

UNIVERSIDAD NACIONAL AUTÓNOMA DE MÉXICO PROGRAMA DE MAESTRÍA Y DOCTORADO EN CIENCIAS MATEMÁTICAS Y DE LA ESPECIALIZACIÓN EN ESTADÍSTICA APLICADA

Higher dimensional transmission problems for Dirac operators on Lipschitz domains

TESIS QUE PARA OPTAR POR EL GRADO DE DOCTOR EN CIENCIAS

> PRESENTA ARIEL HERNÁNDEZ HERRERA

DIRECTOR DE LA TESIS:

DR. EMILIO MARMOLEJO OLEA Instituto de Matemáticas Unidad Cuernavaca

MIEMBROS DEL COMITÉ TUTOR:

DR. GREGOR WEINGART Instituto de Matemáticas Unidad Cuernavaca

DR. JORGE RIVERA NORIEGA Instituto Tecnológico Autónomo de México

CIUDAD DE MÉXICO, 01 de junio de 2020.



Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México



UNAM – Dirección General de Bibliotecas Tesis Digitales Restricciones de uso

DERECHOS RESERVADOS © PROHIBIDA SU REPRODUCCIÓN TOTAL O PARCIAL

Todo el material contenido en esta tesis esta protegido por la Ley Federal del Derecho de Autor (LFDA) de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos (México).

El uso de imágenes, fragmentos de videos, y demás material que sea objeto de protección de los derechos de autor, será exclusivamente para fines educativos e informativos y deberá citar la fuente donde la obtuvo mencionando el autor o autores. Cualquier uso distinto como el lucro, reproducción, edición o modificación, será perseguido y sancionado por el respectivo titular de los Derechos de Autor. To my parents and my wife.

Resumen

Problemas de transmisión para el sistema de Maxwell de tiempo harmónico, el operador de Helmholtz y el operador perturbado de Dirac, son formulados usando álgebras de Clifford, en dominios Lipschitz de \mathbb{R}^m con $m \geq 3$. Se muestra cómo el problema de Dirac se descompone en varios problemas de Maxwell y Helmholtz. En cada caso se dan condiciones necesarias y suficientes para el buen planteamiento de los problemas y para la equivalencia de un problema de Dirac con uno o varios problemas de Maxwell independientes.¹

Abstract

Transmission boundary value problems for the time-harmonic Maxwell system, the Helmholtz operator, and the perturbed Dirac operator are formulated, using Clifford algebras, on bounded Lipschitz domains of \mathbb{R}^m with $m \geq 3$. It is shown how the Dirac problem decouples into several Maxwell and Helmholtz problems. Necessary and sufficient conditions are provided for well-posedness in each case, and for the Dirac problem to be equivalent to one or several independent Maxwell problems.¹

Keywords

Transmission boundary value problems; Lipschitz domains; Dirac operator; Maxwell system; Helmholtz operator; Clifford analysis.

¹The main results of the thesis were published on [1]

Contents

1	Introduction and theoretical framework		5
	1.1	Description of the boundary value problems	5
	1.2	Lipschitz domains	8
	1.3	Clifford calculus	10
	1.4	Boundary spaces	13
	1.5	Boundary integral operators	15
	1.6	Transmission problems in \mathbb{R}^3	19
	1.7	Higher dimensional transmission problems	24
2	Main Results		26
	2.1	Invertibility theorems	26
	2.2	Well-posedness and relations between the transmission BVP's \ldots .	31
Bi	Bibliography		

Chapter 1

Introduction and theoretical framework

1.1 Description of the boundary value problems

We study transmission boundary value problems for perturbed Dirac operators on bounded Lipschitz domains of the *m*-dimensional ($m \ge 3$) Euclidean space, and its relation with the corresponding transmission problems for the Helmholtz operator and the time-harmonic Maxwell system. Some applications are devised from this relationship (listed at the end of this section). Our work generalizes results in [2], where a similar analysis is carried out in the three-dimensional setting. The transmission problems are formulated using Clifford algebras, an appropriate language to approach these problems in arbitrary dimension (see [3]). Then singular boundary integral operators of Cauchy type are used to solve them.

Early treatments of boundary value problems (BVP's) in electromagnetism, as shown in [4, 5, 6] and [7], permitted the use of compactness arguments and the Fredholm theory, because the domains involved were smooth enough to allow the associated boundary integral operators to be only mildly singular. The same techniques were extended to the context of Lipschitz domains thanks to the work of Calderón [8], and R. Coifman, A. McIntosh and Y. Meyer [9], concerning the L^p -boundedness of Cauchy integral operators on Lipschitz curves.

The BVP dealing with the time-harmonic Maxwell system on bounded Lipschitz domains remained open until the early 1990's, as stated in [10]. It was addressed by M. Mitrea in [11] for dimension m = 3, with data in certain L^p , Sobolev-like,

boundary smoothness spaces. Shortly thereafter, in [3], the same approach was extended to the higher-dimensional setting. In both cases p is restricted to the interval $(2 - \epsilon, 2 + \epsilon)$, where ϵ is a (typically small) positive constant depending on the Lipschitz character of the domain. As conjectured in [11], the condition on pwas later improved for the three-dimensional case, to the interval $(1, 2 + \epsilon)$ (see [12]). This is a sharp result also, as proved in [12]. Identifying the optimal range of p's for which the Maxwell transmission problem is well-posed in dimension m > 3, is still an open problem. In most of our results it is used the restriction $p \in (2-\epsilon, 2+\epsilon)$.

Given a couple of C^1 complex valued fields E, H defined in a domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, we call (E, H) an *electromagnetic wave* if it satisfies the time-harmonic Maxwell system:

$$\operatorname{curl} E - ikH = 0, \qquad \operatorname{curl} H + ikE = 0, \qquad (1.1)$$

where the parameter $k \in \mathbb{C}$ is called the *wave number*.

In what follows, the domain Ω will always be considered bounded and Lipschitz, n will denote its outward unit normal vector, and σ the surface measure in $\partial\Omega$. A classical theorem of Rademacher (see [13]) guarantees the existence of n almost everywhere in $\partial\Omega$. We will use the notation Ω^+ and Ω^- for the interior and exterior of Ω respectively. Finally, the wave number k satisfies Im $k \geq 0$, and will be the same for all the BVP's treated.

The 3-dimensional Maxwell transmission problem is, given $f, g \in L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathbb{C}^3)$, to find complex valued, C^1 fields E^{\pm}, H^{\pm} defined on Ω^{\pm} , such that

$$(\mathcal{MTP}_3) \begin{cases} \operatorname{curl} E^{\pm} - ikH^{\pm} = 0, & \text{in } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ \operatorname{curl} H^{\pm} + ikE^{\pm} = 0, & \text{in } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ n \times H^{+} - \mu n \times H^{-} = f, \\ n \times E^{+} - n \times E^{-} = g, \\ \mathcal{N}(E^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(H^{\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega), \\ E^{-}, H^{-} \text{ satisfy the SMRC.} \end{cases}$$

Let us explain the notation used in the formulation of the problem. For this and all the BVP's that follow, $\mu \in (0, 1)$ will be the same, it is called the *transmission* parameter and is determined by characteristics of the media occupying Ω^{\pm} . To the reader interested in the physical motivation for the BVP's treated here, we recommend the introductory chapter in [14]. SMRC stands for Silver-Müller radiation *condition*, which is given by

$$x \times H + |x|E = o(1),$$
 as $|x| \to \infty.$

For $x \in \partial\Omega$, we denote the sets $\{y \in \Omega^{\pm} : |x - y| \leq \kappa \operatorname{dist}(y, \partial\Omega)\}$ as $\Gamma^{\pm}(x)$. Note they are interior and exterior "cones" with vertex in x, and fixed aperture $\kappa > 0$. The value of κ is not relevant in the theory that follows, as explained in Section 2.1 of [15]. For (possibly vector valued) functions u^{\pm} defined on Ω^{\pm} respectively, the *nontangential maximal operator* \mathcal{N} is defined as

$$\mathcal{N}u^{\pm}(x) := \sup\{|u^{\pm}(y)|: y \in \Gamma^{\pm}\}.$$

The nontangential boundary trace of u^{\pm} is taken to be

$$u^{\pm}\big|_{\partial\Omega}(x) := \lim_{\Gamma^{\pm}(x) \ni y \to x} u^{\pm}(y) \tag{1.2}$$

whenever the limit exist. If u is defined both in Ω^+ and Ω^- , and we want to specify a particular nontangential boundary trace, we use the notation $u|_{\partial\Omega^+}$ or $u|_{\partial\Omega^-}$. In the boundary conditions of \mathcal{MTP}_3 , by $n \times H^+$ we mean $n \times (H^+|_{\partial\Omega})$, and the same holds for $n \times H^-$ and $n \times E^{\pm}$ (such convention will be used implicitly in what follows, except in situations where clarification is needed). It is known, see Lemma 3.3 in [3] for example, that the existence of the nontangential boundary traces for E^{\pm} and H^{\pm} almost everywhere on $\partial\Omega$ is guaranteed by the rest of the conditions in \mathcal{MTP}_3 , and the same holds in higher dimensions.

As for the Helmholtz operator $\Delta + k^2$, its corresponding transmission problem is, given $\phi, \psi \in L^p(\partial\Omega)$, to find C^2 complex valued functions w^{\pm} , defined on Ω^{\pm} , such that

$$(\mathcal{HTP}_3) \begin{cases} (\Delta + k^2) w^{\pm} = 0, & \text{in } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ w^+|_{\partial\Omega} - \mu w^-|_{\partial\Omega} = \phi, \\ \partial_n w^+ - \partial_n w^- = \psi, \\ \mathcal{N}(w^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(\nabla w^{\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega), \\ w^- \text{ satisfies the SRC.} \end{cases}$$

Here ∂_n denotes the normal derivative. As in the \mathcal{MTP}_3 , the other conditions imply the existence of nontangential boundary traces almost everywhere. SRC stands for *Sommerfeld radiation condition*, which is

$$\langle \nabla w^{-}(x), x \rangle - ik |x| w^{-}(x) = o(1), \quad \text{as} \quad |x| \to \infty.$$

The structure of the thesis is as follows. The rest of Chapter 1 introduces the problems of interest and the necessary theoretical framework. In Section 1.2 we define Lipschitz domains and the corresponding surface integrals. In Section 1.3 we present the language of the Clifford calculus (i.e., calculus for Clifford algebra valued functions), which will be used to formulate the Maxwell transmission problem in higher dimensions. In Section 1.4 we introduce the Sobolev-like boundary spaces that correspond to the formulation of our problems. This is, the boundary spaces for which they have solution. In Section 1.5 we present the boundary integral operators used to solve our BVP's. Section 1.6 contains a summary of the results in [2], which inspired this work, and Section 1.7 gives a formal presentation of the problems we are solving in the thesis.

Chapter 2 contains our main results. In Section 2.1 we provide spectral properties of some of the boundary operators from Section 1.5(see theorems 2.1.4 and 2.1.6). In Section 2.2 we prove several theorems about our transmission problems, which we summarize as follows. Theorem 2.2.1 gives necessary and sufficient conditions for the Dirac transmission problem to be well posed. Theorem 2.2.6 describes how the Dirac problem decouples into several Maxwell and Helmholtz problems. Theorems 2.2.9 and 2.2.12 provide necessary and sufficient conditions for a Dirac transmission problem to be equivalent to one, or several independent Maxwell problems respectively. Theorem 2.2.7 and Corollary 2.2.10 provide necessary and sufficient conditions for the Helmholtz and Maxwell problems respectively, to be well posed.

1.2 Lipschitz domains

We call a domain Ω in \mathbb{R}^m a *Lipschitz domain*, if locally the boundary $\partial\Omega$ is the graph of a Lipschitz function. In this section we provide an (slightly different) equivalent definition, more suitable to our purposes. We later use partitions of unity to define integration in $\partial\Omega$ with respect to the surface measure. This integration is fundamental for the construction of spaces of boundary conditions, and solutions for the BVPs we are interested in.

Definition 1.2.1. A bounded domain Ω in \mathbb{R}^m is Lipschitz if there exist a finite number of balls B_j in \mathbb{R}^{m-1} , cylinders $C_j = B_j \times (-h_j, h_j)$ in \mathbb{R}^m , proper rigid transformations of \mathbb{R}^m (composition of a rotation with a translation) R_j , and Lipschitz functions $\phi_j : B_j \to \mathbb{R}$ with $|\phi_j| < h_j$, such that the cylinders $U_j = R_j(C_j)$ form an open cover of $\partial \Omega$, and satisfy

$$\Omega \cap U_j = \{ R_j(\tilde{x}, t) : \tilde{x} \in B_j, \ t > \phi_j(\tilde{x}) \},\$$

$$\partial \Omega \cap U_j = \{ R_j(\tilde{x}, \phi_j(\tilde{x})) : \tilde{x} \in B_j \}.$$

We call $\{(U_j, \phi_j)\}$ a local coordinate system of $\partial \Omega$.

We should note that in problems \mathcal{MTP}_3 and \mathcal{HTP}_3 , it was implicitly assumed the existence a.e. of a normal unitary vector n to the boundary of the Lipschitz domain Ω . Such assumption is justified by the following argument. From Rademacher's theorem (see [13]) we have that ϕ_j is differentiable at almost every point of B_j . With this at hand, it is possible to construct the outward unit normal vector n(y) for every $y \in \partial \Omega$ such that $y = R_j(\tilde{x}, \phi_j(\tilde{x}))$ and $\nabla \phi_j(\tilde{x})$ exist. This is achieved by applying the rotation corresponding to R_j to the vector $(\nabla \phi_j(\tilde{x}), -1)$, and then re-scaling (multiplying by $\frac{1}{\sqrt{1+|\nabla \phi_j(\tilde{x})|^2}})$ to obtain a unitary vector.

Before defining integration in the surface $\partial\Omega$, we must explain the concept of *partition of unity*. Given a compact set K in \mathbb{R}^m and a finite number of open domains U_j such that $K \subset \bigcup_j U_j$, there exist functions $\psi_j \in C^\infty$ with $\operatorname{supp} \psi_j \subset U_j$, such that $\sum_j \psi_j(y) = 1$ for all $y \in K$. We call the set of pairs (U_j, ψ_j) , a partition of unity on K.

Let Ω be a Lipschitz domain and $\{(U_j, \phi_j)\}$ a local coordinate system of $\partial\Omega$ with the corresponding transformations R_j . Let $\{(U_j, \psi_j)\}$ be a partition of unity on $\partial\Omega$. Then we can define

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} fds := \sum_{j} \int_{\partial\Omega \cap U_j} \psi_j f \, ds = \sum_{j} \int_{\partial\Omega \cap U_j} f_j \, ds, \tag{1.3}$$

where $f_j = \psi_j f$ has support in $\partial \Omega \cap U_j$, and the integrals over the patches $\partial \Omega \cap U_j$ are given by

$$\int_{\partial\Omega\cap U_j} f_j \, ds := \int_{B_j} f_j(R_j(\tilde{x}, \phi_j(\tilde{x}))) \sqrt{1 + |\nabla\phi_j(\tilde{x})|^2} \, d\tilde{x}. \tag{1.4}$$

It should be standard to prove that this integration gives place to a surface measure σ on $\partial\Omega$, which is independent of the local coordinate system and the corresponding partition of unity selected. This is an exercise usually avoided in textbooks.

1.3 Clifford calculus

We will make extensive use in our work of the Clifford algebra $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ with m generators $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^m$. The relevance of the Clifford algebra framework to study the Maxwell system will be illustrated in the last two sections of this chapter. As our review of the Clifford calculus cannot be comprehensive, the interested reader is referred to the monographs [16, 17, 18, 19] and [20]. All lemmas in this section have straightforward proofs.

Definition 1.3.1. The Clifford algebra $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ associated with \mathbb{R}^m , endowed with the usual Euclidean metric, is the extension of \mathbb{R}^m to a unitary, associative algebra over \mathbb{C} such that

- 1. $x^2 = -|x|^2$ for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$,
- 2. $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ is generated (as an algebra) by \mathbb{R}^m ,
- 3. $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ is not generated (as an algebra) by any proper subset of \mathbb{R}^m .

From polarization identities and (1), for $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^m$, we have

$$xy + yx = -2\langle x, y \rangle,$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ stands for the usual inner product in \mathbb{R}^m . In particular, if $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^m$ is an orthonormal base of \mathbb{R}^m , then $e_i e_j = -e_j e_i$ for $i \neq j$, and $e_i^2 = -1$.

Given a multiindex $I = (i_1, i_2, ..., i_l)$, we define $e_I := e_{i_1} e_{i_2} ... e_{i_l}$ and $e_0 := 1$. The notation $e_{i_1, i_2, ..., i_l} := e_{i_1} e_{i_2} ... e_{i_l}$ is also valid. A basis for the algebra $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ will be

$$e_0; e_1, e_2, \dots, e_m; e_{1,2}, \dots, e_{m-1,m}; \dots; e_{1,2,\dots,m}.$$
 (1.5)

Therefore, every element $u \in C\ell_m$ can be uniquely expressed as $\sum_I u_I e_I$ where $u_I \in \mathbb{C}$, and the sum runs over all the increasingly ordered multiindexes I determined by subsets of $\{1, 2, ..., m\}$. From now on, unless indicated otherwise, all sums \sum_I will be considered in this way.

Vectors $x = (x_i)_{i=1}^m$ in the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^m will be naturally identified with elements $x = \sum_{i=1}^m x_i e_i$ in the algebra $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ (which are, justifiably, also called vectors). We will use the bilinear form

$$\langle u, v \rangle := \sum_{I} u_{I} v_{I}$$
 for $u = \sum_{I} u_{I} e_{I}, \quad v = \sum_{I} v_{I} e_{I}$

Clifford conjugation, denoted by 'bar', is defined as the unique complex-linear involution on $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ for which $\overline{e_I}e_I = e_I\overline{e_I} = 1$, for any multiindex I. We also define complex conjugation of $u = \sum_I u_I e_I$, as $u^c := \sum_I \overline{u_I} e_I$ (the bar over a scalar denotes the usual complex conjugation), and the absolute value $|u| := \sqrt{\langle u, u^c \rangle}$.

Let π_l for $0 \leq l \leq m$, be the projection onto the *l*-homogeneous part of $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$, i.e.,

$$\pi_l(u) := \sum_{|I|=l} u_I e_I, \text{ for all } u \in \mathcal{C}\ell_m,$$

where |l| is the order of the multiindex *I*. We denote the range of π_l by Λ^l . The following decomposition will be useful,

$$\mathcal{C}\ell_m = \Lambda^0 \oplus \Lambda^1 \oplus \ldots \oplus \Lambda^m.$$
(1.6)

The interior \lor and exterior \land products are defined, for a fixed vector $a \in \Lambda^1$, as

$$a \lor u := -\pi_{l-1}(au)$$
 and $a \land u := \pi_{l+1}(au)$

for all $u \in \Lambda^l$. Then extend \vee and \wedge linearly to all $u \in \mathcal{C}\ell_m$. Note that

$$au = a \wedge u - a \vee u. \tag{1.7}$$

A useful linear mapping on $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ will be the *Hodge star operator*, which we define for $u \in \mathcal{C}\ell_m$, as $*u := \overline{u}e_{12...m}$. It is worth noting that $* : \Lambda^l \to \Lambda^{m-l}$ and $e_I(*e_I) = e_{1,2,...,m}$.

The *Dirac operator* associated with $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ is defined as $\mathbb{D} := \sum_{i=1}^m e_i \partial_i$, i.e.,

$$\mathbb{D}u = \sum_{I} \sum_{i=1}^{m} (\partial_{i} u_{I}) e_{i} e_{I}, \quad \text{for} \quad u = \sum_{I} u_{I} e_{I}, \text{ and } u_{I} \in C^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{m}, \mathbb{C}).$$

Note that the Dirac operator in $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ can be applied to differentiable functions with values in different (bigger) Clifford algebras, so we can define a *perturbed Dirac operator* as $\mathbb{D}_k := \mathbb{D} + ke_{m+1}$ for $\mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}$ -valued functions. The reason for such definitions will become apparent latter (see, for example, (1.9)). Functions in the kernels of \mathbb{D} or \mathbb{D}_k are called *monogenic* or *k-monogenic* respectively. Throughout this work we shall consider the natural embeddings

$$\mathbb{R}^m \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}\ell_m \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}.$$

In the same spirit of the Dirac operator, we define the *exterior* and *interior* derivatives as $d := \sum_{i=1}^{m} e_i \wedge \partial_i$ and $\delta := -\sum_{i=1}^{m} e_i \vee \partial_i$, respectively. Note that

$$\mathbb{D} = d + \delta, \quad d^2 = \delta^2 = 0, \quad \delta d + d\delta = -\Delta, \tag{1.8}$$

where Δ is the Laplace operator $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \partial_i^2$. From (1.8) easily follows

$$\mathbb{D}^2 = -\Delta$$
 and $\mathbb{D}^2_k = -(\Delta + k^2).$ (1.9)

The next two lemmas summarize the properties of Clifford calculus which are most relevant to our purposes.

Lemma 1.3.2. Let a, b be vectors in $C\ell_m$, $u \in \Lambda^l$ and $v \in \Lambda^{m-l}$, for some $l \in \{0, 1, ..., m\}$. Then the following identities hold

(1) $a \wedge (a \wedge u) = a \vee (a \vee u) = 0.$ (5) $*(a \vee u) = (-1)^{l-1}a \wedge (*u).$ (2) $* u = (-1)^{l(m-l)}u.$ (6) $a \wedge (b \vee u) + b \vee (a \wedge u) = \langle a, b \rangle u.$

$$(3) \ \langle u, *v \rangle = (-1)^{l(m-l)} \langle *u, v \rangle. \tag{7} \ \langle a \wedge u, v \rangle = \langle u, a \vee v \rangle.$$

$$(4) \ *(a \land u) = (-1)^{l} a \lor (*u)$$

Note that parts (1) and (6) in Lemma 1.3.2 are valid for all $u \in \mathcal{C}\ell_m$, and (7) is valid for all $u, v \in \mathcal{C}\ell_m$. Also, the second and third identities in (1.8) are analogues of (1) and (6) respectively, by replacing a and b with the Dirac operator. Analogues to the parts (4) and (5) of Lemma 1.3.2 are also valid (replacing again a with the Dirac operator). Let us expand the last observation into the following lemma.

Lemma 1.3.3. Let u be a Λ^l -valued C^1 function, for $0 \le l \le m$. Then it holds

- (i) $*(du) = (-1)^{l+1}\delta(*u),$
- (*ii*) $*(\delta u) = (-1)^l d(*u),$
- (*iii*) $*(d(*u)) = (-1)^{m(l+1)+1} \delta u$.

Part (iii) is the result of applying the Hodge operator to (ii) and then use (2) from Lemma 1.3.2.

An interesting particular case of (6) in Lemma 1.3.2, is the one with b = a and |a| = 1, which gives us the decomposition

$$u = a \wedge (a \vee u) + a \vee (a \wedge u). \tag{1.10}$$

When $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^m$, a = n is the normal vector to $\partial\Omega$, and u is an algebra valued function defined on $\partial\Omega$, the first and second terms in the right hand of (1.10) are called the *normal* and *tangential* components of u respectively (denoted by u_n and u_t). Note that, if u is also a vector, its normal and tangential components are the usual ones (in the Euclidean geometry of \mathbb{R}^m). In this case, function u is called *normal* if $n \wedge u = 0$, and *tangential* if $n \vee u = 0$. Equivalently, u is normal if $u_t = 0$, and tangential if $u_n = 0$. Note that normal and tangential functions are mutually orthogonal with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$.

The following lemma gives some useful relations between the 3-dimensional vector calculus and the Clifford algebra operators introduced before.

Lemma 1.3.4. Let u, v be C^1 vector fields in a domain in \mathbb{R}^3 . If we consider them also as $\mathcal{C}\ell_3$ -valued functions, then

div
$$u = -\delta u$$
, $\langle u, v \rangle = u \lor v$,
curl $u = *du$, $u \times v = *(u \land v)$.

We call (E, H), where E, H are C^1 and $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ -valued functions, an *electromagnetic* wave in \mathbb{R}^m , if

 $\delta E - ikH = 0, \qquad dH + ikE = 0. \tag{1.11}$

Note that, from Lemma 1.3.4, (1.11) is a generalization of (1.1) to higher dimensions.

1.4 Boundary spaces

For the boundary spaces, we turn to the idea of weak derivatives, which justifies the term "Sobolev-like" used in the introduction. For a start, we need the following spaces of *p*-integrable normal and tangential functions on $\partial\Omega$

$$L_t^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m) := \{ f \in L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m) : f_n = 0 \}, L_n^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m) := \{ f \in L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m) : f_t = 0 \}.$$

Here f_t and f_n are the tangential and normal components of f, as defined after (1.10).

We say that $u \in L^p_t(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ has a boundary interior derivative δ_∂ in $L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$, if there exist a function $\delta_\partial u \in L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ such that

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \langle \delta_{\partial} u, \varphi \rangle d\sigma = \int_{\partial\Omega} \langle u, d\varphi \rangle d\sigma, \quad \forall \varphi \in C_0^\infty \left(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}\ell_m \right)$$

Where $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ is the space of compactly supported smooth $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ -valued functions in \mathbb{R}^m . Define $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ as the subspace of functions in $L_t^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ that have boundary interior derivatives in $L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$.

Analogously, $u \in L_n^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ has a boundary exterior derivative d_∂ in $L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$, if there exist a function $d_\partial u \in L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ such that

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \langle d_{\partial} u, \varphi \rangle d\sigma = \int_{\partial\Omega} \langle u, \delta\varphi \rangle d\sigma, \quad \forall \varphi \in C_0^{\infty} \left(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}\ell_m \right).$$

And define $L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ as the Sobolev space of functions in $L_n^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ with boundary exterior derivatives in $L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$.

In both cases we obtain Banach spaces, if we equip them with the norms

$$||f||_{L^{p,\delta}_t(\partial\Omega,\mathcal{C}\ell_m)} := ||f||_{L^p(\partial\Omega,\mathcal{C}\ell_m)} + ||\delta_\partial f||_{L^p(\partial\Omega,\mathcal{C}\ell_m)},$$
$$||f||_{L^{p,d}_n(\partial\Omega,\mathcal{C}\ell_m)} := ||f||_{L^p(\partial\Omega,\mathcal{C}\ell_m)} + ||d_\partial f||_{L^p(\partial\Omega,\mathcal{C}\ell_m)}.$$

Related to this spaces is the following lemma, which provide an special class of functions with boundary interior or exterior derivatives (see Lemma 4.1 in [3]).

Lemma 1.4.1. Let $u \in C^1(\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1})$ be such that $u, \delta u$ have nontangential boundary trace a.e. on $\partial\Omega$, and $\mathcal{N}(u), \mathcal{N}(\delta u) \in L^p(\partial\Omega)$. Then

$$n \lor u \in L^{p,\delta}_t(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1})$$
 and $\delta_{\partial}(n \lor u) = -n \lor \delta u.$

Analogously, if $u \in C^1(\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1})$ is such that u, du have nontangential boundary trace a.e. on $\partial\Omega$ and $\mathcal{N}(u), \mathcal{N}(du) \in L^p(\partial\Omega)$, then

$$n \wedge u \in L^{p,d}_n(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1})$$
 and $d_\partial(n \wedge u) = -n \vee du.$

We use also the subspaces $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^l)$ and $L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^l)$, of Λ^l valued functions in $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ and $L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ respectively.

Finally, a Sobolev space we will need later is $L_1^p(\partial\Omega)$, defined as the space of functions $f \in L^p(\partial\Omega)$ with a weak tangential derivative ∇_t in $L_t^p(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^1)$, i.e., those f for which there exist a function $\nabla_t f \in L_t^p(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^1)$, such that

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} (\nabla_t f) h \, d\sigma = \int_{\partial\Omega} f \, (\nabla_t h) \, d\sigma, \qquad \forall h \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^m).$$

Where $\nabla_t h$ is the projection of ∇h into the tangential space of $\partial \Omega$. Note that, being Ω a Lipschitz domain, it has tangent space in almost every point of $\partial \Omega$, so $\nabla_t h$ is defined a.e. on $\partial \Omega$.

 $L_1^p(\partial\Omega)$ is also a Banach space if we use the norm

$$||f||_{L^p_1(\partial\Omega)} := ||f||_{L^p(\partial\Omega)} + ||\nabla_t f||_{L^p(\partial\Omega,\Lambda^1)}.$$

1.5 Boundary integral operators

If we want to apply integral equation methods to solve the \mathcal{DTP}_m (formally defined in 1.49), we need an integral operator defined by a kernel in the null space of \mathbb{D}_k . The equation (1.9) gives us a hint about where to look for. Hence we start with the fundamental solution Φ_k for the Helmholtz operator. This can be defined in \mathbb{R}^m , for $m \geq 2$ and $\text{Im } k \geq 0$, as

$$\Phi_k(x) := \frac{1}{4i} \left(\frac{k}{2\pi |x|} \right)^{(m-2)/2} H^{(1)}_{(m-2)/2}(k|x|), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^m \setminus \{0\},$$

where $H^{(1)}_{\mu}$ is the Hankel function of the first kind with index μ (cf. [21]). For a more detailed discussion of this function and some of its properties see [22].

From $\mathbb{D}_k^2 \Phi_k = 0$, we conclude that $E_k := \mathbb{D}_k \Phi_k$ will be a fundamental solution for \mathbb{D}_k . Define the *Cauchy-Clifford operator* as

$$\mathscr{C}_k f(x) := \int_{\partial \Omega} E_k(x - y) f(y) \, d\sigma_y, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^m \backslash \partial \Omega,$$

Note that \mathscr{C}_k maps Clifford algebra valued functions defined in $\partial\Omega$, to k-monogenic functions outside of $\partial\Omega$.

A principal-value boundary version of \mathcal{C}_k can be defined as

$$C_k f(x) := \text{p.v.} \int_{\partial \Omega} E_k(x - y) f(y) \, d\sigma_y$$

$$:= \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\substack{|x - y| > \epsilon \\ y \in \partial \Omega}} E_k(x - y) f(y) \, d\sigma_y, \quad x \in \partial \Omega.$$
(1.12)

It is not trivial that C_k is well defined and bounded in $L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$. This result comes from the (by now classical) Calderón-Zygmund theory. Specifically, the application of Calderón's techniques to some singular integrals in general Lipschitz domains, is due to improvements made in [9] to the C-Z theory.

The following representation theorem illustrates the utility of the Cauchy-Clifford operator when we study BVP's for the Dirac operator on Lipschitz domains. The case with m = 3 is formulated in [2], and the generalization is trivial (the same will apply in each case in which we use results from [2]).

Theorem 1.5.1. Let Ω be a bounded Lipschitz domain in \mathbb{R}^m , with exterior Ω^- and outward pointing normal vector n on $\partial\Omega$. If $p \in (1, \infty)$, and $k \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ is such that Im $k \geq 0$, the following equivalence holds:

 $u \text{ is } k\text{-monogenic in } \Omega^-, \mathcal{N}(u) \in L^p(\partial\Omega) \text{ and } u \text{ satisfies the MMRC}$ if and only if $u|_{\partial\Omega} \text{ exist, belongs to } L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m) \text{ and } u = \mathscr{C}_k(nu|_{\partial\Omega}) \text{ in } \Omega^-.$

An interior version (i.e., removing the radiation condition and considering u as k-monogenic in Ω) is also valid.

Where MMRC denotes a radiation condition, defined later in 1.48. The interested reader in the development and motivation for such radiation condition may consult [23].

$$(1 - ie_4 \hat{x})u(x) = o(|x|^{-2}), \quad \text{as } |x| \to \infty.$$

Also of interest for us is the *single layer operator*, defined by

$$\mathscr{S}_k f(x) := \int_{\partial \Omega} \Phi_k(x - y) f(y) \, d\sigma_y, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^m \backslash \partial \Omega,$$

with it's corresponding boundary version

$$S_k f(x) := \int_{\partial \Omega} \Phi_k(x-y) f(y) \, d\sigma_y, \qquad x \in \partial \Omega.$$

Unlike E_k , kernel Φ_k defines a weakly singular operator. Therefore the boundary version S_k of the single layer, is compact in $L^p(\partial\Omega)$.

The principal-value boundary versions of the interior and exterior derivatives of the single layer are

$$\delta S_k f(x) := \text{p.v.} \quad \int_{\partial \Omega} \delta_x \Big[\Phi_k(x - y) f(y) \Big] \, d\sigma_y, \quad x \in \partial \Omega, \tag{1.13}$$

$$dS_k f(x) := \text{p.v.} \quad \int_{\partial\Omega} d_x \Big[\Phi_k(x-y) f(y) \Big] \, d\sigma_y, \quad x \in \partial\Omega.$$
(1.14)

Note that dS_k is just a notation for an operator, it does not mean that we are applying S_k and later d (which would not make sense). Finally, we define $M_k := n \vee dS_k$ and $N_k := n \wedge \delta S_k$ (remember n is the outward unitary normal vector to the surface $\partial \Omega$). All of the previous p.v. integral operators are well defined and bounded in $L^p(\partial \Omega, C\ell_m)$ (again, from the work in [9] and the C-Z theory).

Having defined the integral operators \mathscr{C}_k and \mathscr{S}_k , our next step is to know how their images behave as they approach the surface $\partial\Omega$ in a nontangential way (see (1.2)). This is achieved in the next lemma, from [3].

Lemma 1.5.2. Let Ω be a bounded Lipschitz domain, and $f \in L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$. Then the nontangential boundary traces $\mathscr{S}_k f|_{\partial\Omega^{\pm}}$, $\delta\mathscr{S}_k f|_{\partial\Omega^{\pm}}$, and $d\mathscr{S}_k f|_{\partial\Omega^{\pm}}$ exist almost everywhere in $\partial\Omega$, and satisfy

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{S}_k f|_{\partial\Omega^{\pm}} &= S_k f, \\ \delta \mathscr{S}_k f|_{\partial\Omega^{\pm}} &= \pm \frac{1}{2} n \lor f + \delta S_k f, \\ d \mathscr{S}_k f|_{\partial\Omega^{\pm}} &= \mp \frac{1}{2} n \land f + d S_k f. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover,

 $||\mathcal{N}(\mathscr{S}_k f)||_{L^p(\partial\Omega)} + ||\mathcal{N}(\delta\mathscr{S}_k f)||_{L^p(\partial\Omega)} + ||\mathcal{N}(d\mathscr{S}_k f)||_{L^p(\partial\Omega)} \ll ||f||_{L^p(\partial\Omega)},$ and $\mathscr{S}_k f, d\mathscr{S}_k f$ and $\delta\mathscr{S}_k f$, restricted to $\mathbb{R}^m \setminus \overline{\Omega}$, satisfy the SMRC.

With Lemma 1.5.2 we can easily find the boundary traces of \mathscr{C}_k .

Theorem 1.5.3. Let Ω be a bounded Lipschitz domain. For any $f \in L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$,

$$\mathscr{C}_k f|_{\partial\Omega^{\pm}} = (\mp \frac{1}{2}nI + C_k)f, \qquad (1.15)$$

where I denotes the identity operator. As a consequence,

$$n \vee (\mathscr{C}_k f)|_{\partial \Omega^{\pm}} = \mp \frac{1}{2} f_t + n \vee C_k f, \qquad (1.16)$$

$$n \wedge (\mathscr{C}_k f)|_{\partial \Omega^{\pm}} = \pm \frac{1}{2} f_n + n \wedge C_k f.$$
(1.17)

Where f_n and f_t are the normal and tangential parts of f, as defined after (1.10).

The following lemma explain the interaction between δ , δ_{∂} , d and d_{∂} , when applied to single layers.

Lemma 1.5.4. Let Ω be a bounded Lipschitz domain in \mathbb{R}^m , $p \in (1, \infty)$ and $k \in \mathbb{C}$. For $g \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ and $f \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$, it holds

$$\delta \mathscr{S}_k g = \mathscr{S}_k \delta_\partial g, \qquad d \mathscr{S}_k f = \mathscr{S}_k d_\partial f. \tag{1.18}$$

Which has a valid boundary version

$$\delta S_k g = S_k \delta_\partial g, \qquad dS_k f = S_k d_\partial f.$$

Proof. We provide a proof for the first equality in (1.18), the others are similar. Consider c a fixed element in the canonical basis (1.5) of $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$.

$$\begin{split} \langle \delta \mathscr{S}_k g(x), c \rangle &= \int_{\partial \Omega} \langle -\nabla_x \Phi_k(x-y) \lor g(y), c \rangle \, d\sigma_y \\ &= \int_{\partial \Omega} \langle g(y), -\nabla_x \Phi_k(x-y) \land c \rangle \, d\sigma_y \\ &= \int_{\partial \Omega} \langle g(y), \nabla_y \Phi_k(x-y) \land c \rangle \, d\sigma_y \\ &= \int_{\partial \Omega} \langle g(y), d_y(\Phi_k(x-y)c) \rangle \, d\sigma_y \\ &= \int_{\partial \Omega} \langle \Phi_k(x-y) \delta_\partial g(y), c \rangle \, d\sigma_y \\ &= \langle \mathscr{S}_k \delta_\partial g(x), c \rangle. \end{split}$$

Note, by the definitions of $\delta S_k, dS_k$ and C_k , that $C_k = \delta S_k + dS_k + ke_{m+1}S_k$. Then Lemma 1.5.4 implies, for $g \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ and $f \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$, that

$$n \vee C_k g = n \vee S_k(\delta_{\partial}g) + M_k g - k e_{m+1} n \vee S_k g,$$

$$n \wedge C_k f = n \wedge S_k(d_{\partial}f) + N_k f - k e_{m+1} n \wedge S_k f.$$
(1.19)

This relations will be of use later on.

1.6 Transmission problems in \mathbb{R}^3

The object of this section is to present some results of [2]. The principal one is the well-posedness, under some sufficient conditions, of the \mathcal{DTP}_3 . This problem is later deconstructed into several Maxwell and Helmholtz transmission problems. As a corollary, the well-posedness of \mathcal{HTP}_3 is also established. Finally, necessary and sufficient conditions are given for the decoupling of one \mathcal{DTP}_3 , into two or one \mathcal{MTP}_3 problems.

Given a domain Ω , we retrain here the same meaning for Ω^{\pm} as in the previous sections. The first theorem from [2] we want to state is the following:

Theorem 1.6.1. Let Ω be a bounded Lipschitz domain in \mathbb{R}^3 . Then there exist $\epsilon > 0$ and an at most countable set $\{k_j\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$ which depend exclusively on the boundary $\partial \Omega$, such that, if $p \in (1, 2 + \epsilon)$, $\mu \in (0, 1)$, and $k \notin \{k_j\}_j$ has $Im k \ge 0$, the problem

$$\begin{cases} \mathbb{D}_{k}u^{\pm} = 0 \quad on \; \Omega^{\pm}, \\ n \lor u^{+} - n \lor u^{-} = \tilde{g}, \\ n \land u^{+} - \mu \; n \land u^{-} = \tilde{f}, \\ u^{-} \; satisfies \; the \; MMRC^{1}, \\ \mathcal{N}(u^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(du^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(\delta u^{\pm}) \in L^{p}(\partial\Omega). \end{cases}$$
(1.20)

has a solution if and only if

$$\tilde{f} \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_4) \quad and \quad \tilde{g} \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_4).$$
 (1.21)

Furthermore, the solution u^{\pm} is unique and satisfies the estimate

$$||\mathcal{N}(u^{\pm})||_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)} + ||\mathcal{N}(du^{\pm})||_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)} + ||\mathcal{N}(\delta u^{\pm})||_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)} \\ \ll ||\mathcal{N}(\tilde{f})||_{L^{p,d}_{n}(\partial\Omega,\mathcal{C}\ell_{4})} + ||\mathcal{N}(\tilde{g})||_{L^{p,\delta}_{t}(\partial\Omega,\mathcal{C}\ell_{4})}.$$
(1.22)

The key ingredient in the proof of Theorem 1.6.1 is the fact that operators $\lambda I + n \wedge C_k$ and $\lambda I + n \vee C_k$ with $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ and $|\lambda| \geq 1/2$, are isomorphisms of $L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_4)$ and $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_4)$ respectively. This is actually the fundamental result in [2]. Here C_k is the principal-value boundary version of \mathscr{C}_k , as defined in (1.12).

With Theorem 1.6.1 at hand, the next step is to deconstruct (1.20) in such a way that u^{\pm} is represented, using the Hodge operator, only through scalar and vector components. We will see that these components satisfy several Maxwell and

 $^{^{1}}MMRC$ denotes a radiation condition, defined later in 1.48. See also [23]

Helmholtz transmission problems.

It is easy to check that u^{\pm} can be canonically written as

$$u^{\pm} = H^{\pm} - ie_4 E^{\pm}, \tag{1.23}$$

where $H^{\pm}, E^{\pm} \in C^1(\Omega^{\pm}, \mathcal{C}\ell_3)$. We now define $H_i^{\pm} := \pi_i(H^{\pm}), E_i^{\pm} := \pi_i(E^{\pm})$ for $i \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$; and $H_i^{\prime \pm} := *H_{3-i}^{\pm}, E_i^{\prime \pm} := *E_{3-i}^{\pm}$, for $i \in \{0, 1\}$. So we get the representations

$$H^{\pm} = H_0^{\pm} + H_1^{\pm} + *H_1^{\prime\pm} + *H_0^{\prime\pm}, \qquad (1.24)$$

$$E^{\pm} = E_0^{\pm} + E_1^{\pm} + *E_1^{\prime\pm} + *E_0^{\prime\pm}.$$
(1.25)

Note that $H_i^{\pm}, E_i^{\pm}, H_i'^{\pm}, E_i'^{\pm}$ in the previous decomposition are all scalars or vectors. The idea is then, if we consider u^{\pm} a solution to (1.20), to determine what transmission problems its components satisfy. Before we can do that, it is necessary to establish a suitable decomposition for the boundary conditions in (1.20).

Theorem 1.6.2. For Ω a bounded Lipschitz domain in \mathbb{R}^3 with normal exterior vector n and $p \in (1, \infty)$, it holds

$$L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_3) = nL_1^p(\partial\Omega) \oplus *L_t^{p,Div}(\partial\Omega) \oplus *L^p(\partial\Omega), \qquad (1.26)$$

$$L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_3) = L^p(\partial\Omega) \oplus L_t^{p,Div}(\partial\Omega) \oplus *(nL_1^p(\partial\Omega)).$$
(1.27)

Furthermore, there are norm estimates naturally accompanying such a decomposition.

Now it is possible to decompose $\tilde{f} \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_4)$ and $\tilde{g} \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_4)$ in the form

$$\tilde{f} = F + ie_4 \tilde{F} \quad \text{with} \quad F, \tilde{F} \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_3),$$
(1.28)

$$\tilde{g} = G + ie_4 \tilde{G}$$
 with $G, \tilde{G} \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_3),$ (1.29)

$$F = nF_0 + *F_1 + *F'_0, \quad \tilde{F} = n\tilde{F}_0 + *\tilde{F}_1 + *\tilde{F}'_0, \quad (1.30)$$

$$G = G_0 + G_1 + *(nG'_0), \quad \tilde{G} = \tilde{G}_0 + \tilde{G}_1 + *(n\tilde{G}'_0)$$
(1.31)

with

$$F_0, \tilde{F}, G'_0, \tilde{G}'_0 \in L^p_1(\partial\Omega), F_1, \tilde{F}_1, G_1, \tilde{G}_1 \in L^{p, \text{Div}}_t(\partial\Omega), \text{ and } F'_0, \tilde{F}'_0, G_0, \tilde{G}_0 \in L^p(\partial\Omega).$$

We are ready now to enunciate the deconstruction of (1.20).

Theorem 1.6.3. Suppose that Ω is a bounded Lipschitz domain in \mathbb{R}^3 , and fix $\mu \in (0,1), k \in \mathbb{C}$ and $p \in (1,\infty)$. Also, assume that $u^{\pm} \in C^1(\Omega^{\pm}, \mathcal{C}\ell_4)$ solves the transmission boundary value problem for the perturbed Dirac operator (1.20). Finally, decompose u^{\pm} as in (1.23)-(1.25), and also decompose the boundary data \tilde{f}, \tilde{g} as in (1.28)-(1.31). Then the components of these functions satisfy the two inhomogeneous Maxwell transmission problems:

$$\begin{aligned}
\left(\operatorname{curl} E_{1}^{\pm} - ikHI_{1}^{\pm} = \nabla EI_{0}^{\pm}, & \text{on } \Omega^{\pm}, \\
\operatorname{curl} HI_{1}^{\pm} + ikE_{1}^{\pm} = -\nabla H_{0}^{\pm}, & \text{on } \Omega^{\pm}, \\
n \times E_{1}^{\pm} - \mu n \times E_{1}^{-} = \tilde{F}_{1}, & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \\
n \times HI_{1}^{\pm} - n \times HI_{1}^{-} = -G_{1}, & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \\
HI_{1}^{-}, E_{1}^{-} & \text{satisfy the SMRC}, \\
\mathcal{N}(HI_{1}^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(E_{1}^{\pm}) \in L^{p}(\partial\Omega).
\end{aligned}$$
(1.32)

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{curl} E I_{1}^{\pm} - i k H_{1}^{\pm} &= \nabla E_{0}^{\pm}, \quad \text{on } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ \operatorname{curl} H_{1}^{\pm} + i k E I_{1}^{\pm} &= -\nabla H I_{0}^{\pm}, \quad \text{on } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ n \times H_{1}^{\pm} - \mu n \times H_{1}^{-} &= F_{1}, \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega, \\ n \times E I_{1}^{\pm} - n \times E I_{1}^{-} &= -\tilde{G}_{1}, \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega, \\ H_{1}^{-}, E I_{1}^{-} \quad \text{satisfy the SMRC}, \\ \mathcal{N}(H_{1}^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(E I_{1}^{\pm}) \in L^{p}(\partial\Omega). \end{aligned}$$
(1.33)

and the four \mathcal{HTP}_3 :

$$\begin{cases} (\Delta + k^2) H_0^{\pm} = 0, & \text{on } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ H_0^{+} - \mu H_0^{-} = F_0, \\ \partial_n H_0^{+} - \partial_n H_0^{-} = -ik \, \tilde{G}_0 - \text{Div} \, G_1, \\ H_0^{-} \text{ satisfies the SRC}, \\ \mathcal{N}(H_0^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(\nabla H_0^{\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega). \end{cases}$$
(1.34)

$$\begin{cases} (\Delta + k^2) E_0^{\pm} = 0, & \text{on } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ H_0^+ - \mu \ E_0^- = \tilde{F}_0, \\ \partial_n E_0^+ - \partial_n E_0^- = -ik \ G_0 - \text{Div} \ \tilde{G}_1, \\ E_0^- \text{ satisfies the SRC}, \\ \mathcal{N}(E_0^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(\nabla E_0^{\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega). \end{cases}$$
(1.35)

$$\begin{cases} (\Delta + k^2)H\prime_0^{\pm} = 0, \text{ on } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ H_0^+ - \mu H\prime_0^- = G\prime_0, \\ \partial_n H\prime_0^+ - \partial_n H_0^- = -ik \tilde{F}\prime_0 - \text{Div } F_1, \\ H\prime_0^- \text{ satisfies the SRC}, \\ \mathcal{N}(H\prime_0^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(\nabla H\prime_0^{\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega). \end{cases}$$
(1.36)

$$\begin{cases} (\Delta + k^2) E I_0^{\pm} = 0, \text{ on } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ H_0^+ - \mu E I_0^- = \tilde{G} I_0, \\ \partial_n E I_0^+ - \partial_n E I_0^- = -ik F I_0 - \text{Div } \tilde{F}_1, \\ E I_0^- \text{ satisfies the SRC}, \\ \mathcal{N}(E I_0^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(\nabla E I_0^{\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega). \end{cases}$$
(1.37)

The reader will notice later that problems (1.32)-(1.33) are in fact formulations, with m = 3 and l = 1, of the Maxwell transmission problem defined below in (1.45). This is a simple consequence of lemmas 1.3.3 and 1.3.4.

Using theorems 1.6.1 and 1.6.3, we can prove the following corollary:

Corollary 1.6.4. Let Ω be a bounded Lipschitz domain in \mathbb{R}^3 . There exist $\epsilon > 0$ and an at most countable set $\{k_j\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$ which depend exclusively on the boundary $\partial\Omega$, such that, if $p \in (1, 2 + \epsilon)$, $\mu \in (0, 1)$, and $k \notin \{k_j\}_j$ has $Im k \ge 0$, then the \mathcal{HTP}_3 is well-posed.

To obtain an analogous to Corollary 1.6.4 in the case of the \mathcal{MTP}_3 , it is necessary to deal first with the non-homogeneity of problems (1.32)-(1.33). The following theorem shows that there exist certain restrictions on the boundary conditions \tilde{f} and \tilde{g} , which allows one to equivalently decouple (1.20) into two independent \mathcal{MTP}_3 .

Theorem 1.6.5. Let Ω be a bounded Lipschitz domain in \mathbb{R}^3 . Then there exist $\epsilon > 0$ and an at most countable set $\{k_j\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$ which depend exclusively on the boundary $\partial \Omega$, such that, if $p \in (1, 2 + \epsilon)$, $\mu \in (0, 1)$, and $k \notin \{k_j\}_j$ has $Im k \ge 0$, the problem (1.20) with u^{\pm} as in (1.23)-(1.25) and \tilde{f}, \tilde{g} as in (1.28)-(1.31), decouples into the following two independent \mathcal{MTP}_3 :

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{curl} E_{1}^{\pm} - ikH_{1}^{\prime\pm} &= 0, \quad \text{on } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ \operatorname{curl} H_{1}^{\prime\pm} + ikE_{1}^{\pm} &= 0, \quad \text{on } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ n \times E_{1}^{+} - \mu n \times E_{1}^{-} &= \tilde{F}_{1}, \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega, \\ n \times H_{1}^{\prime+} - n \times H_{1}^{\prime-} &= -G_{1}, \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega, \\ H_{1}^{\prime-}, E_{1}^{-} \quad \text{satisfy the SMRC}, \\ \mathcal{N}(H_{1}^{\prime\pm}), \mathcal{N}(E_{1}^{\pm}) \in L^{p}(\partial\Omega), \end{aligned}$$
(1.38)

and

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{curl} E_1^{\prime\pm} - ikH_1^{\pm} = 0, & \operatorname{on} \Omega^{\pm}, \\ \operatorname{curl} H_1^{\pm} + ikE_1^{\prime\pm} = 0, & \operatorname{on} \Omega^{\pm}, \\ n \times E_1^{\prime+} - \mu n \times E_1^{\prime-} = F_1, & \operatorname{on} \partial\Omega, \\ n \times H_1^{+} - n \times H_1^{-} = -\tilde{G}_1, & \operatorname{on} \partial\Omega, \\ H_1^{-}, E_1^{\prime-} & \text{satisfy the SMRC}, \\ \mathcal{N}(H_1^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(E_1^{\prime\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega), \end{cases}$$
(1.39)

if and only if

$$\frac{d_{\partial}\tilde{f} + ke_{4}\tilde{f} \text{ is } (\Lambda^{2} \oplus (e_{4}\Lambda^{2})) \text{-valued and}}{\delta_{\partial}\tilde{g} + ke_{4}\tilde{g} \text{ is } (\Lambda^{1} \oplus (e_{4}\Lambda^{1})) \text{-valued.}}$$
(1.40)

Furthermore, if (1.40) holds, the following relations are valid:

$$*(d_{\partial}\tilde{f} + ke_{4}\tilde{f}) = -ik\tilde{F}_{1} + ke_{4}F_{1},$$

$$\delta_{\partial}\tilde{g} + ke_{4}\tilde{g} = -ik\tilde{G}_{1} + ke_{4}G_{1}.$$
(1.41)

$$\tilde{f} = *F_1 + ik^{-1} * (\text{Div}\,\tilde{F}_1) + ie_4(*\tilde{F}_1 - ik^{-1} * (\text{Div}\,F_1)),
\tilde{g} = -ik^{-1} * (\text{Div}\,\tilde{G}_1) + G_1 + ie_4(ik^{-1}(\text{Div}\,G_1) + \tilde{G}_1).$$
(1.42)

Corollary 1.6.6. In the context of Theorem 1.6.5, the transmission boundary value problem (1.20) reduces to just one \mathcal{MTP}_3 if and only if the boundary data \tilde{f}, \tilde{g} are $(\Lambda^3 \oplus (e_4 \Lambda^2))$ -valued and $(\Lambda^1 \oplus (e_4 \Lambda^0))$ -valued, respectively, and satisfy

$$d_{\partial}\tilde{f} - ke_4 \wedge \tilde{f} = 0 = \delta_{\partial}\tilde{g} - ke_4 \vee \tilde{g}.$$
(1.43)

Furthermore, (1.43) is equivalent to

$$\tilde{f} = ik^{-1} * (\text{Div}\,\tilde{F}_1) + ie_4(*\tilde{F}_1),
\tilde{g} = G_1 - k^{-1}e_4(\text{Div}\,G_1).$$
(1.44)

1.7 Higher dimensional transmission problems

Using lemmas 1.3.2, 1.3.3 and 1.3.4 we can formulate the analogous of \mathcal{MTP}_3 in dimension m > 3. Remember that $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^m$ is always considered a bounded and Lipschitz domain.

The problem is, given $g \in L^p(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^l)$, $f \in L^p(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^{l+1})$, to find Λ^{l+1} -valued functions E^{\pm} , and Λ^l -valued functions H^{\pm} , which are C^1 in Ω^{\pm} respectively, and such that

$$\left(\mathcal{MTP}_{m}\right) \begin{cases} \delta E^{\pm} - ikH^{\pm} = 0, & \text{in } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ dH^{\pm} + ikE^{\pm} = 0, & \text{in } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ n \lor E^{+} - n \lor E^{-} = g, \\ n \land H^{+} - \mu n \land H^{-} = f, \\ E^{-}, H^{-} \text{ satisfy the SMRC}, \\ \mathcal{N}(E^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(H^{\pm}) \in L^{p}(\partial\Omega). \end{cases}$$
(1.45)

Here we use the *m*-dimensional SMRC, which is given for E^- (the case H^- is analogous) by

$$\hat{x} \lor (dE^{-})(x) + \hat{x} \land (\delta E^{-})(x) - ikE^{-}(x) = o(|x|^{-(m-1)/2}), \text{ as } |x| \to \infty,$$

where $\hat{x} := \frac{x}{|x|}.$

As for the Helmholtz transmission problem, this is, given $\phi, \psi \in L^p(\partial\Omega)$, to find two scalar-valued functions w^{\pm} , C^2 in Ω^{\pm} respectively, which satisfy

$$(\mathcal{HTP}_m) \begin{cases} (\Delta + k^2) w^{\pm} = 0, & \text{in } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ w^+|_{\partial\Omega} - \mu w^-|_{\partial\Omega} = \phi, \\ \partial_n w^+ - \partial_n w^- = \psi, \\ w^- \text{ satisfies the SRC}, \\ \mathcal{N}(w^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(\nabla w^{\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega). \end{cases}$$
(1.46)

Where we use the higher dimensional version of the Sommerfeld radiation condition:

$$\langle \nabla w^{-}(x), \hat{x} \rangle - ik \, w^{-}(x) = o(|x|^{-(m-1)/2}), \quad \text{as } |x| \to \infty.$$

Lemma 1.7.1. Let $u := H - ie_{m+1}E$, with E, H being $C\ell_m$ -valued C^1 functions. Then

$$\mathbb{D}_k u = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \begin{cases} \delta E + dE - ik H = 0, \\ \delta H + dH + ik E = 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.47)

Lemma 1.7.1 gives a link between k-monogenic functions and electromagnetic waves that will be exploited later to relate the corresponding transmission problems. First we need a suitable radiation condition, which is devised in [23], and we will call it here the *McIntosh-Mitrea radiation condition* (MMRC). For a $C\ell_{m+1}$ valued function u defined in a neighborhood of infinity, the condition reads

$$(1 - ie_{m+1}\hat{x})u(x) = o(|x|^{-(m+1)/2}), \quad \text{as } |x| \to \infty.$$
 (1.48)

The Dirac transmission problem is then, given $\tilde{g}, \tilde{f} \in L^p(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1})$, to find $\mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}$ -valued functions u^{\pm}, C^1 in Ω^{\pm} respectively, and such that

$$(\mathcal{DTP}_m) \begin{cases} \mathbb{D}_k u^{\pm} = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega^{\pm}, \\ n \lor u^+ - n \lor u^- = \tilde{g}, \\ n \land u^+ - \mu \, n \land u^- = \tilde{f}, \\ u^- \text{ satisfies the MMRC}, \\ \mathcal{N}(u^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(du^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(\delta u^{\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega). \end{cases}$$
(1.49)

Chapter 2

Main Results

2.1 Invertibility theorems

The general idea behind the integral methods to solve the \mathcal{DTP}_m (which in turn, as we will see in Section 2.2, can be used latter to solve the \mathcal{HTP}_m and \mathcal{MTP}_m), is as follows. With the Cauchy-Clifford operator, we construct an educated guess of the solution to the \mathcal{DTP}_m . Then we calculate the nontangential boundary traces of our guess, and try to match them with the boundary conditions of the transmission problem. From the previous step, we conclude that our success is tied to the spectral properties of certain boundary integral operators (especially the M_k and N_k defined in Section 1.5). In other words, the key in the solution of our transmission problems is the invertibility of certain singular boundary integral operators. We handle this with theorems 2.1.4 and 2.1.6.

Lemma 2.1.1. Let Ω be a bounded Lipschitz domain in \mathbb{R}^m . For all $F, G \in C^1(\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ with nontangential boundary traces and nontangential maximal functions in $L^2(\partial\Omega)$ and $|dG||F|, |G||\delta F| \in L^1(\Omega)$, it holds the integration by parts formula

$$\iint_{\Omega} \langle dG, F \rangle \ dx - \iint_{\Omega} \langle G, \delta F \rangle \ dx = \int_{\partial \Omega} \langle n \wedge G, F \rangle \ d\sigma \tag{2.1}$$

An exterior version of formula (2.1), for Ω^- , is obtained by demanding also that $|G||F| = o(|x|^{1-m})$.

Proof. Suppose first that $F, G \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ and Ω is a C^2 bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^m . If we consider the canonical representations

$$G = \sum g_I e_I, \qquad F = \sum f_I e_I,$$

then (2.1) is equivalent to

$$\sum_{I,J} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[\iint_{\Omega} \langle \partial_{i}g_{I}e_{i} \wedge e_{J}, f_{J}e_{J} \rangle dx + \iint_{\Omega} \langle g_{I}e_{I}, \partial_{i}f_{J}e_{i} \vee e_{J} \rangle dx \right]$$
$$= \sum_{I,J} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{\partial \Omega} \langle g_{I}n_{i}e_{i} \wedge e_{I}, f_{J}e_{J} \rangle d\sigma.$$

Note that the only nonzero terms can be those with $e_J = \pm e_i e_I$ for $i \notin I$. It is enough then to prove, for such values of i, I and J, that

$$\iint_{\Omega} (\partial_i g_I) f_J \, dx + \iint_{\Omega} g_I \, \partial_i f_J \, dx = \int_{\partial \Omega} g_I n_i f_J \, d\sigma.$$

And this is a trivial consequence of the Gauss theorem.

It is possible now to use an approximation scheme as the one described in [24] to obtain the first part of the lemma (here is where we use the nontangential properties of F and G). Suppose $\Omega_j \uparrow \Omega^+$ is a smooth approximation of Ω^+ from the inside, with n_j the outward unitary normal vector corresponding to Ω_j , and σ_j the surface measure in $\partial\Omega_j$. The properties of such approximation are listed in Theorem 1.12 in [24] (the reader may consult this source if he or she is interested in the technical details), and will be used implicitly in what follows. Their main utility here is the implication of point convergence of the integral argument in the right side of the equation bellow, by translating each integral in $\partial\Omega_j$ to a similar one in $\partial\Omega$. From the assumptions on F and G we have $\mathcal{N}(\langle n \wedge G, F \rangle) \in L^1(\partial\Omega)$. The previous observation and $|dG||F|, |G||\delta F| \in L^1(\Omega)$ imply that we can pass, using the dominated convergence theorem, from

$$\iint_{\Omega_j} \langle dG, F \rangle \ dx - \iint_{\Omega_j} \langle G, \delta F \rangle \ dx = \int_{\partial \Omega_j} \langle n_j \wedge G, F \rangle \ d\sigma_j,$$

to the limit when $j \to \infty$. This will give us the first part of the lemma.

The second part follows by applying the first one on the domain $B_R \setminus \overline{\Omega}$, where $B_R = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^m : |x| < R\}$, and letting R tend to infinity. The surface integral on ∂B_R will vanish because $|G||F| = o(|x|^{1-m})$.

Lemma 2.1.2. If $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ with $|\lambda| \geq \frac{1}{2}$, and $k \in \mathbb{C}$ with Im k > 0, then $\lambda I - M_k$ is an injective operator in $L_t^{2,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$.

Proof. Let $g \in L_t^{2,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ be a nonzero element in Ker $(\lambda I - M_k)$, with λ and k as in the lemma. Suppose $\Omega_j^{\pm} \uparrow \Omega^{\pm}$ are smooth domains approximating Ω^{\pm} from the inside, as in the proof of Lemma 2.1.1, with outward unitary normal vectors n_j^{\pm} and surface measures σ_j^{\pm} . Consider $E^{\pm} := d\mathscr{S}_k g$ on Ω^{\pm} , and note that $E^-, \delta E^-$ decay exponentially as $|x| \to \infty$. Therefore we can apply the integration by parts formula (2.1) on Ω_j^{\pm} , with δE^{\pm} and $(E^{\pm})^c$ in the place of G and F, to obtain

$$\iint_{\Omega_j^{\pm}} (k^2 |E^{\pm}|^2 - |\delta E^{\pm}|^2) \, dx = \int_{\partial \Omega_j^{\pm}} \langle \delta E^{\pm}, n_j^{\pm} \vee (E^{\pm})^c \rangle \, d\sigma_j^{\pm}. \tag{2.2}$$

That $\mathcal{N}(|\delta E^{\pm}||(E^{\pm})^c|) \in L^1(\partial\Omega)$ follows from Lemma 1.5.2 and the Holder inequality. The previous observation, properties of the approximations $\Omega_j^{\pm} \uparrow \Omega^{\pm}$ given in [24], and the dominated convergence theorem allow us to pass to the limit when $j \to \infty$ on the right side of (2.2). Thus the left side of (2.2) has a (finite) limit when $j \to \infty$, which, together with Im k > 0, imply $|E^{\pm}|^2, |\delta E^{\pm}|^2 \in L^1(\Omega^{\pm})$. Hence, either using Lemma 2.1.1 on Ω^{\pm} , or passing to the limit in (2.2), we obtain

$$\iint_{\Omega^{\pm}} (k^2 |E^{\pm}|^2 - |\delta E^{\pm}|^2) \, dx = \pm \int_{\partial \Omega} \langle \delta E^{\pm}, n \vee (E^{\pm})^c \rangle \, d\sigma. \tag{2.3}$$

Denote μ^{\pm} the left side of (2.3). From Im k > 0, we have Im $k^2 \neq 0$ or $k^2 < 0$. In either case, $\mu^{\pm} = 0$ iff $E^{\pm} = 0$. Using Lemma 1.5.2 we calculate

$$\delta E^{\pm}\big|_{\partial\Omega} = \pm \frac{1}{2}n \wedge \delta_{\partial}g - dS_k(\delta_{\partial}g) + k^2 S_k g.$$
(2.4)

Therefore $\delta E^+|_{\partial\Omega}$ and $\delta E^-|_{\partial\Omega}$ have the same tangential component on $\partial\Omega$. The previous observations and (2.3) give us

$$E^{+} = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad (\delta E^{+}\big|_{\partial\Omega})_{t} = (\delta E^{-}\big|_{\partial\Omega})_{t} = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mu^{-} = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad E^{-} = 0.$$

By the jump formulas in Lemma 1.5.2, this leads to g = 0, a contradiction. An analogous reasoning shows that it is not possible to have $E^- = 0$. Hence $E^{\pm} \neq 0$, and consequently $\mu^{\pm} \neq 0$.

We use the jump formulas again to obtain

$$n \vee E^{\pm}\big|_{\partial\Omega} = \mp \frac{1}{2}g + M_k g = (\lambda \mp \frac{1}{2})g.$$
(2.5)

From (2.5) and (2.4) substituted on (2.3), we get

$$\mu^{\pm} = \pm (\lambda \mp \frac{1}{2})c, \quad \text{for some } c \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}.$$
(2.6)

Note that $|\lambda| > \frac{1}{2}$ implies that $\lambda \mp \frac{1}{2}$ have the same sign. If $k^2 < 0$ then $\mu^+, \mu^- \in \mathbb{R}_-$, which contradicts (2.6). Finally, if $\operatorname{Im} k^2 \neq 0$, then (2.3) implies $\operatorname{sign}(\operatorname{Im} \mu^+) = \operatorname{sign}(\operatorname{Im} \mu^-)$, which again contradicts (2.6).

We will use the following quite general version of the analytic Fredholm alternative (from Proposition 4.1.4 in [25]).

Theorem 2.1.3 (Analytic Fredholm alternative). Let X be a Banach space and F(X) the set of bounded Fredholm operators on X. If D is a domain in \mathbb{C} and $A: D \to F(X)$ is an analytic function, then either

- (i) A(z) is not invertible for any $z \in D$.
- (ii) There exist a discrete set $S \subset D$ such that A(z) is invertible for all $z \in D \setminus S$.

We have the elements now to prove the following theorem.

Theorem 2.1.4. Given $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ with $|\lambda| \geq \frac{1}{2}$, there exist $\epsilon > 0$ and an at most discrete set $\{k_j\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$ containing 0, both depending on λ and $\partial\Omega$, such that $\lambda I - M_k$ and $\lambda I - N_k$ are invertible operators in $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ and $L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ respectively, for all $2 - \epsilon and <math>k \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{k_j\}_j$ with $\operatorname{Im} k \geq 0$.

Proof. Let $k_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ be fixed, with $\operatorname{Im} k_0 > |\operatorname{Re} k_0|$. From Theorem 7.4 in [3] and "good λ -inequality" techniques due to Dahlberg and Kenig [26], we have the existence of $\epsilon > 0$ such that $\lambda I - M_{k_0}$ is invertible in $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ for all $2-\epsilon .$

We consider now, for any $k \in \mathbb{C}$, the decomposition

$$\lambda I - M_k = \lambda I - M_{k_0} + (M_{k_0} - M_0) + (M_0 - M_k).$$
(2.7)

From Lemma 4.1 in [2] follows that the operators in parentheses in (2.7) are weakly singular, and therefore compact in $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$. Hence $\lambda I - M_k$ is Fredholm with index zero in $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ for $2 - \epsilon .$

From the definition of M_k and properties of its kernel, $k \to \lambda I - M_k$ is an analytic mapping. Then Lemma 2.1.2 and the analytic Fredholm alternative imply the existence of an at most discrete set $\{k_j\}_j \in \mathbb{R}$ (we can assume, without loss of generality, that $0 \in \{k_j\}_j$), such that $\lambda I - M_k$ is invertible on $L_t^{2,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ for all $k \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{k_j\}_j$ with Im $k \geq 0$. Consider now that

$$L_t^{2,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m) \hookrightarrow L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m) \quad \text{for } p < 2,$$
$$L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m) \hookrightarrow L_t^{2,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m) \quad \text{for } p > 2,$$

are both inclusions with dense ranges. It follows that, for k as above, $\lambda I - M_k$ is injective in $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ for p > 2, and has dense range in $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ for p < 2. From this observation and the Fredholmness of $\lambda I - M_k$ follows the invertibility of $\lambda I - M_k$ when $2 - \epsilon and <math>k \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{k_j\}_j$ with $\mathrm{Im} \ k \ge 0$. The case of operator $\lambda I - N_k$ is analogous, but with a possibly different value of ϵ and different set $\{k_j\}_j$. The theorem follows from intercepting the corresponding ϵ -intervals for p, and uniting the corresponding sets $\{k_j\}_j$.

An analogous theorem for the operators $\lambda I + n \vee C_k$ and $\lambda I + n \wedge C_k$ is also valid. For the proof we need first the following lemma (from lemmas 5.5 and 5.6 in [2]).

Lemma 2.1.5. The operators $n \vee S_k$ and $n \vee S_k \delta_\partial$ are compact in $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$. The same holds for $n \wedge S_k$ and $n \wedge S_k d_\partial$ in $L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$.

Theorem 2.1.6. Given $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ with $|\lambda| \geq \frac{1}{2}$, there exist $\epsilon > 0$ and an at most discrete set $\{k_j\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$ containing 0, both depending on λ and $\partial\Omega$, such that $\lambda I + n \vee C_k$ and $\lambda I + n \wedge C_k$ are invertible operators in $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ and $L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ respectively, for all $2 - \epsilon and <math>k \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{k_j\}_j$ with $\operatorname{Im} k \geq 0$.

Proof. There is only one step in the proof of the 3-dimensional version of this theorem, given in [2] (there it is proved the result for $\lambda I + n \wedge C_k$, the case of $\lambda I + n \vee C_k$ is analogous), that actually depends on the dimension. It is the one providing an $\epsilon > 0$ such that $\lambda I + n \vee C_k$ and $\lambda I + n \wedge C_k$ are Fredholm with index zero in $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ and $L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$ respectively, for all $k \in \mathbb{C}$ and p in an interval depending on ϵ . We can achieve this using the following consequence of (1.19),

$$\lambda I + n \lor C_k = -(-\lambda I - M_k) + n \lor S_k \delta_\partial - k e_{m+1} n \lor S_k,$$

$$\lambda I + n \land C_k = -(-\lambda I - N_k) + n \land S_k d_\partial - k e_{m+1} n \land S_k.$$

Note that, because of Lemma 2.1.5, the problem is reduced to provide, for the operators $\lambda I - M_k$ and $\lambda I - N_k$, an ϵ with the property described before. Such property, for ϵ as in Theorem 2.1.4 and $2-\epsilon , is contained in the reasoning following$ (2.7). It is convenient now to define the following Hardy spaces

 $\mathscr{H}_{k}^{p}(\Omega^{+}) := \{ u \in C^{1}(\Omega^{+}, \ \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}) : \mathbb{D}_{k}u = 0 \text{ in } \Omega^{+}, \text{ and } \mathcal{N}(u), \ \mathcal{N}(\delta u), \ \mathcal{N}(du) \in L^{p}(\partial\Omega) \}, \\ \mathscr{H}_{k}^{p}(\Omega^{-}) := \{ u \in C^{1}(\Omega^{-}, \ \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}) : \mathbb{D}_{k}u = 0 \text{ in } \Omega^{-}, \ \mathcal{N}(u), \ \mathcal{N}(\delta u), \ \mathcal{N}(du) \in L^{p}(\partial\Omega), \text{ and} u \text{ satisfies the MMRC} \}.$

The next result follows easily from Lemma 1.4.1.

Lemma 2.1.7. For any $k \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Im} k \geq 0$, and $p \in (1, \infty)$ we have

$$u^{\pm} \in \mathscr{H}_{k}^{p}(\Omega^{\pm}) \Longrightarrow \begin{cases} n \lor u^{\pm} \in L_{t}^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}) \\ n \land u^{\pm} \in L_{n}^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}) \end{cases}$$

We conclude this section with a couple of theorems whose proof is just as in the 3-dimensional case (given in [2]).

Theorem 2.1.8. In the same context of Theorem 2.1.6, if $u^{\pm} \in \mathscr{H}_k^p(\Omega^{\pm})$, then

$$u^{\pm} = \mathscr{C}_k \Big[(\mp \frac{1}{2}I + n \lor C_k)^{-1} (n \lor u^{\pm}) \Big],$$
$$u^{\pm} = \mathscr{C}_k \Big[(\pm \frac{1}{2}I + n \land C_k)^{-1} (n \land u^{\pm}) \Big].$$

Theorem 2.1.9. In the same context of Theorem 2.1.6, the following operators are isomorphisms,

$$n \vee C_k : L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}) \to L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}),$$

$$n \wedge C_k : L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}) \to L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}).$$

2.2 Well-posedness and relations between the transmission BVP's

The following theorem gives necessary and sufficient conditions (under some restrictions on p and the wave number k) for the \mathcal{DTP}_m to be well-posed.

Theorem 2.2.1. There exist $\epsilon > 0$ and an at most discrete set $\{k_j\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$ containing 0, both depending on μ and $\partial\Omega$, such that, if $2 - \epsilon and <math>k \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{k_j\}_j$ with Im $k \geq 0$, then the Dirac transmission problem

$$\begin{cases} u^{\pm} \in \mathscr{H}_{k}^{p}(\Omega^{\pm}), \\ n \lor u^{+} - n \lor u^{-} = \tilde{g}, \\ n \land u^{+} - \mu n \land u^{-} = \tilde{f}, \end{cases}$$
(2.8)

has a solution if and only if

 $\tilde{f} \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}) \quad and \quad \tilde{g} \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}).$ (2.9)

Furthermore, the solution is unique and has the form $u^{\pm} = \mathscr{C}_k h^{\pm}$, with

$$\begin{cases} \mu(h^{-})_{t} = (h^{+})_{t} = \frac{\mu}{\mu - 1} (\lambda I + n \vee C_{k})^{-1} \tilde{g}, \\ (h^{-})_{n} = (h^{+})_{n} = \frac{1}{1 - \mu} (\lambda I + n \wedge C_{k})^{-1} \tilde{f}, \end{cases}$$
(2.10)

where $\lambda := \frac{1}{2} \frac{1+\mu}{1-\mu}$. In particular, u^{\pm} depends continuously on the boundary data, i.e.,

$$||\mathcal{N}(u^{\pm})||_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)} + ||\mathcal{N}(du^{\pm})||_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)} + ||\mathcal{N}(\delta u^{\pm})||_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)}$$
$$\ll ||\tilde{g}||_{L^{p,\delta}_{t}(\partial\Omega,\mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1})} + ||\tilde{f}||_{L^{p,d}_{n}(\partial\Omega,\mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1})}.$$

Remark 2.2.2. Note that, though the solution u^{\pm} is unique, the corresponding h^{\pm} in its representation is not, because the Cauchy-Clifford operator is not injective.

Proof. The necessity of (2.9) follows from Lemma 2.1.7. Suppose now that (2.9) is true, ϵ and p are as in Theorem 2.1.6, and $u^{\pm} = \mathscr{C}_k h^{\pm}$ with h^{\pm} as in (2.10). Note that $\mu \in (0, 1)$ implies $\lambda > \frac{1}{2}$, so Theorem 2.1.6 guarantees the existence of such h^{\pm} . From theorems 1.5.1 and 1.5.3 we conclude that $u^{\pm} \in \mathscr{H}_k^p(\Omega^{\pm})$.

Using the jump formulas (1.16)-(1.17) and substituting later $(h^+)_t = \mu(h^-)_t$ and $(h^-)_n = (h^+)_n$ we get

$$n \vee u^{+} - n \vee u^{-} = \left[-\frac{1}{2} (1+\mu)I + (\mu-1)n \vee C_{k} \right] (h^{-})_{t}$$

$$= (\mu-1) \left(\lambda I + n \vee C_{k} \right) (h^{-})_{t},$$

$$n \wedge u^{+} - \mu n \wedge u^{-} = \left[\frac{1}{2} (1+\mu)I + (1-\mu)n \wedge C_{k} \right] (h^{+})_{n}$$

$$= (1-\mu) \left(\lambda I + n \wedge C_{k} \right) (h^{+})_{n}.$$

(2.11)

And from (2.10) follows that u^{\pm} satisfy the boundary conditions in (2.8). Now, using (2.10), Theorem 1.5.3 and Lemma 1.5.2, we get the continuous dependence of the solution u^{\pm} on the boundary data \tilde{g}, \tilde{f} .

It remains to be proved the unicity of the solution. Suppose u^{\pm} solves the homogeneous version of (2.8), and call $n \vee u^{+} = n \vee u^{-} = g \in L_{t}^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1})$. From Theorem 2.1.8 we have the representation

$$u^{\pm} = \mathscr{C}_k \left[(\mp \frac{1}{2}I + n \vee C_k)^{-1} g \right].$$
 (2.12)

Thus, because of (2.12) and (1.17), the second boundary condition in (the homogeneous version of) (2.8) is equivalent to

$$-\frac{1}{2}(A^{-1}g)_n + n \wedge C_k(A^{-1}g) = \mu \Big[\frac{1}{2}(B^{-1}g)_n + n \wedge C_k(B^{-1}g)\Big],$$
(2.13)

where $A = -\frac{1}{2}I + n \lor C_k$ and $B = \frac{1}{2}I + n \lor C_k$. Note that $(A^{-1}g)_n = (B^{-1}g)_n = 0$, so (2.13) becomes

$$n \wedge C_k(A^{-1}g) - \mu n \wedge C_k(B^{-1}g) = 0.$$

Then Theorem 2.1.9 implies $A^{-1}g - \mu B^{-1}g = 0$. From the identities

$$A^{-1} - \mu B^{-1} = \mu A^{-1} (\mu^{-1} B - A) B^{-1},$$

$$\mu^{-1} B - A = \frac{1 - \mu}{\mu} (\lambda I + n \lor C_k),$$

follows that

$$(1 - \mu)A^{-1}(\lambda I + n \vee C_k)B^{-1}g = 0.$$

Finally, Theorem 2.1.6 implies g = 0, and from (2.12), $u^{\pm} = 0$.

Remark 2.2.3. It is worth noting, because Theorem 2.1.6 only requires $|\lambda| > \frac{1}{2}$, that Theorem 2.2.1 is also valid for $\mu > 1$ (therefore $\lambda < -\frac{1}{2}$). The same applies to the rest of the theorems in this section. As mentioned in the introduction, after the definition of \mathcal{MTP}_3 , the restriction $\mu \in (0, 1)$ is due to physical reasons.

Let us consider now the following decomposition for $\mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1}$ valued functions u^{\pm} that solve the \mathcal{DTP}_m .

$$u^{\pm} = H^{\pm} - ie_{m+1}E^{\pm}, \quad \text{with} \quad H, E \in \mathcal{C}\ell_m.$$

$$(2.14)$$

$$H^{\pm} = H_0^{\pm} + H_1^{\pm} + \ldots + H_m^{\pm},$$

$$E^{\pm} = E_0^{\pm} + E_1^{\pm} + \ldots + E_m^{\pm}.$$
(2.15)

 \square

Where the decomposition for H^{\pm} and E^{\pm} is the one given in (1.6). A similar approach is adopted for the boundary conditions \tilde{f}, \tilde{g} .

$$\tilde{f} = F + ie_{m+1}\tilde{F} \quad \text{with} \quad F, \tilde{F} \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m),
\tilde{g} = G + ie_{m+1}\tilde{G} \quad \text{with} \quad G, \tilde{G} \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m).$$
(2.16)

$$F = F_0 + F_1 + \ldots + F_m, \quad \tilde{F} = \tilde{F}_0 + \tilde{F}_1 + \ldots + \tilde{F}_m, G = G_0 + G_1 + \ldots + G_m, \quad \tilde{G} = \tilde{G}_0 + \tilde{G}_1 + \ldots + \tilde{G}_m.$$
(2.17)

Note that $F_l, \tilde{F}_l \in L^{p,d}_n(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^l)$ and $G_l, \tilde{G}_l \in L^{p,\delta}_t(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^l)$, for $l \in \{0, 1, \ldots, m\}$.

The following lemma provides a useful link between $L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^1)$ and $L_1^p(\partial\Omega)$.

Lemma 2.2.4. Given $f \in L^p_n(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^1)$, the following equivalence holds: $f \in L^{p,d}_n(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^1)$ if and only if there exist $\phi \in L^p_1(\partial\Omega)$ such that $f = n\phi$.

Proof. Suppose first that $\phi \in L_1^p(\partial\Omega)$ has an extension (denoted also by ϕ) in $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m)$. From Lemma 1.4.1 and (1.10) we have

$$d_{\partial}(n\phi) = d_{\partial}(n \wedge \phi) = -n \wedge (d\phi) = -n \wedge (\nabla_t \phi),$$

which is equivalent to

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \langle n\phi, \delta\varphi \rangle \, d\sigma = -\int_{\partial\Omega} \langle n\wedge (\nabla_t \phi), \varphi \rangle \, d\sigma \qquad \forall \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^m, \Lambda^2).$$
(2.18)

The second implication in the lemma will follow from the density of the inclusion

$$\{\phi|_{\partial\Omega}:\phi\in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^m)\}\hookrightarrow L_1^p(\partial\Omega),$$

(see, for example, [15]). Indeed, consider now $\phi \in L_1^p(\partial\Omega)$ and $\{\phi_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ a sequence in $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ such that $\phi_j|_{\partial\Omega} \to \phi$ in $L_1^p(\partial\Omega)$. Then (2.18) is the consequence of taking the limit, when $j \to \infty$, on

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \langle n\phi_j, \delta\varphi \rangle \ d\sigma = -\int_{\partial\Omega} \langle n \wedge (\nabla_t \phi_j), \varphi \rangle \ d\sigma \qquad \forall \ \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^m, \Lambda^2).$$

As for the first implication, suppose that $f \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^1)$. Then we have

$$f = f_n = n \land (n \lor f) = n(n \lor f) = n\phi$$
, with $\phi := n \lor f$.

Therefore, we need to prove $\phi \in L_1^p(\partial\Omega)$, i.e., that there exist $g \in L_t^p(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^1)$ such that

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \phi \nabla_t \varphi \, d\sigma = \int_{\partial\Omega} g\varphi \, d\sigma \qquad \forall \, \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^m).$$
(2.19)

Suppose again $\Omega_j^{\pm} \uparrow \Omega^{\pm}$ are smooth approximations, as in the proof of Lemma 2.1.2. From Lemma 1.5.2 we know

$$\phi = \underbrace{\delta \mathscr{S}_k f|_{\partial \Omega^+}}_{=:\mu^+} - \underbrace{\delta \mathscr{S}_k f|_{\partial \Omega^-}}_{=:\mu^-}$$

and

$$||\mathcal{N}(\delta\mathscr{S}_k f)||_{L^p(\partial\Omega)} \le ||f||_{L^p(\partial\Omega)}, \quad \text{for } \delta\mathscr{S}_k f \text{ on both } \Omega^+ \text{ and } \Omega^-.$$
(2.20)

Moreover, for each j,

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_j^+} (\delta\mathscr{S}_k f) \nabla_t \varphi \, d\sigma_j^+ = -\int_{\partial\Omega_j^+} \nabla_t (\delta\mathscr{S}_k f) \varphi \, d\sigma_j^+ \qquad \forall \, \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^m), \tag{2.21}$$

where ∇_t is taken on $\partial\Omega_j$. Using (2.20), properties of the approximation $\Omega_j^+ \uparrow \Omega^+$, and the dominated convergence theorem we get

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_j^+} (\delta\mathscr{S}_k f) \nabla_t \varphi \ d\sigma_j^+ \xrightarrow[j \to \infty]{} \int_{\partial\Omega} \mu^+ \nabla_t \varphi \ d\sigma.$$
(2.22)

We would like to do the same with the integral in the right side of (2.21), so we look for the boundary trace and an analogous of (2.20) for $\nabla(\delta \mathscr{S}_k f)$. From (1.8), $f \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^1)$, and Lemma 1.5.4, follows

$$\nabla(\delta\mathscr{S}_k f) = d\delta\mathscr{S}_k f = -\delta\mathscr{S}_k (d_\partial f) + k^2 \mathscr{S}_k f \quad \text{on} \quad \Omega^{\pm}$$

Now, Lemma 1.5.2 and the fact that $\partial \Omega_j^+$ "converges nicely" to $\partial \Omega^+$ (see Theorem 1.12 in [24] for the technical details), guarantee the existence of the nontangential boundary trace

$$\left[\nabla(\delta\mathscr{S}_k f)\right]\Big|_{\partial\Omega^+} \in L^p(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^1).$$
(2.23)

Define $g^+ := \left(\left[\nabla(\delta \mathscr{S}_k f) \right] \Big|_{\partial \Omega^+} \right)_t$. The precise value of g^+ as a function of f could be calculated, but it is not relevant in our argument. Also by Lemma 1.5.2,

$$||\mathcal{N}(\nabla(\delta\mathscr{S}_k f))||_{L^p(\partial\Omega)} < \infty \quad \text{on } \Omega^+.$$

Then, as in (2.22), we have

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_j^+} (\nabla_t (\delta \mathscr{S}_k f) \varphi \ d\sigma_j^+ \xrightarrow{j\to\infty} \int_{\partial\Omega} g^+ \varphi \ d\sigma.$$

Thus, g^+ satisfies

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \mu^+ \nabla_t \varphi \, d\sigma = - \int_{\partial\Omega} g^+ \varphi \, d\sigma \qquad \forall \, \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^m).$$

Analogously, we can obtain a $g^-\in L^p_t(\partial\Omega,\Lambda^1)$ such that

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \mu^- \nabla_t \varphi \, d\sigma = - \int_{\partial\Omega} g^- \varphi \, d\sigma \qquad \forall \, \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^m).$$

Finally, $g := g^{-} - g^{+}$ satisfies (2.19).

The relationship between the radiation conditions for u^- and its components, is described in the following lemma (constructed from several results in [27]).

Lemma 2.2.5. Let u be a k-monogenic function and (E, H) an electromagnetic wave (in the sense of (1.11)), both in an \mathbb{R}^m -neighborhood of infinity. Then u satisfies the MMRC iff each of its scalar components satisfies the SRC. And E, H satisfy the SMRC iff each of its scalar components satisfies the SRC.

We proceed now to decouple (2.8) into several Maxwell and Helmholtz transmission BVP's.

Theorem 2.2.6. Let Ω be a bounded Lipschitz domain in \mathbb{R}^m , $\mu \in (0,1)$, $k \in \mathbb{C}$ and $p \in (1, \infty)$. Assume that $u^{\pm} \in C^1(\Omega^{\pm}, \mathcal{C}\ell_{m+1})$ solves the transmission boundary value problem for the perturbed Dirac operator (2.8). Finally, decompose u^{\pm} as in (2.14), and the boundary data \tilde{f} , \tilde{g} as in (2.16)-(2.17). Then the components of these functions satisfy the inhomogeneous Maxwell transmission problems:

$$\begin{cases} \delta E_{l+1}^{\pm} - ik \, H_l^{\pm} = -dE_{l-1}^{\pm}, \\ dH_l^{\pm} + ik \, E_{l+1}^{\pm} = -\delta H_{l+2}^{\pm}, \\ n \lor E_{l+1}^{+} - n \lor E_{l+1}^{-} = \tilde{G}_l, \\ n \land H_l^{+} - \mu \, n \land H_l^{-} = F_{l+1}, \\ E_{l+1}^{-}, H_l^{-} have \ components \ that \ satisfy \ the \ SRC^{-1}, \\ \mathcal{N}(E_{l+1}^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(H_l^{\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega). \end{cases}$$

$$\begin{cases} \delta H_{l+1}^{\pm} - ik \, (-E_l^{\pm}) = -dH_{l-1}^{\pm}, \\ d(-E_l^{\pm}) + ik \, H_{l+1}^{\pm} = \delta E_{l+2}^{\pm}, \\ n \lor H_{l+1}^{+} - n \lor H_{l+1}^{-} = G_l, \\ n \land (-E_l^{+}) - \mu \, n \land (-E_l^{-}) = -\tilde{F}_{l+1}, \\ H_{l+1}^{-}, E_l^{-} have \ components \ that \ satisfy \ the \ SRC^{-2}, \\ \mathcal{N}(-E_l^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(H_{l+1}^{\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega). \end{cases}$$

$$(2.24)$$

for l = 1, 3, ..., m-2 if m is odd, or l = 1, 3, ..., m-1 if m is even; and the \mathcal{HTP}_m 's:

$$\begin{cases} (\Delta + k^2) E_0^{\pm} = 0, \\ E_0^{+} - \mu E_0^{-} = n \lor \tilde{F}_1, \\ \partial_n E_0^{+} - \partial_n E_0^{-} = ik \, G_0 + \delta_{\partial} \tilde{G}_1, \\ E_0^{-} \ satisfy \ the \ SRC, \\ \mathcal{N}(E_0^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(\nabla E_0^{\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega). \end{cases} \begin{cases} (\Delta + k^2) H_0^{\pm} = 0, \\ H_0^{+} - \mu H_0^{-} = n \lor F_1, \\ \partial_n H_0^{+} - \partial_n H_0^{-} = ik \, \tilde{G}_0 + \delta_{\partial} G_1, \\ E_0^{-} \ satisfy \ the \ SRC, \\ \mathcal{N}(H_0^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(\nabla H_0^{\pm}) \in L^p(\partial\Omega). \end{cases}$$

$$(2.26)$$

$$\begin{cases} (\Delta + k^{2})(*E_{m}^{\pm}) = 0, \\ (*E_{m}^{+}) - (*E_{m}^{-}) = *(n \wedge \tilde{G}_{m-1}), \\ \partial_{n}(*E_{m}^{+}) - \mu \partial_{n}(*E_{m}^{-}) = \\ -*(ik F_{m} + \delta_{\partial} \tilde{F}_{m-1}), \\ (*E_{m}^{-}) \text{ satisfy the } SRC, \\ \mathcal{N}(*E_{m}^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(\nabla * E_{m}^{\pm}) \in L^{p}(\partial\Omega). \end{cases} \begin{cases} (\Delta + k^{2})(*H_{m}^{\pm}) = 0, \\ (*H_{m}^{+}) - (*H_{m}^{-}) = *(n \wedge G_{m-1}), \\ \partial_{n}(*H_{m}^{+}) - \mu \partial_{n}(*H_{m}^{-}) = \\ -*(ik \tilde{F}_{m} + \delta_{\partial} F_{m-1}), \\ (*H_{m}^{-}) \text{ satisfy the } SRC, \\ \mathcal{N}(*H_{m}^{\pm}), \mathcal{N}(\nabla * H_{m}^{\pm}) \in L^{p}(\partial\Omega). \end{cases}$$

$$(2.28)$$

Where
$$n \vee \tilde{F}_1, n \vee F_1, *(n \wedge \tilde{G}_{m-1}), *(n \wedge G_{m-1}) \in L^p_1(\partial\Omega).$$

Proof. The conditions on the nontangential maximal functions in (2.8) imply the corresponding conditions in (2.24)-(2.29). Applying decompositions (2.14) and (2.16), boundary conditions in (2.8) become

$$\tilde{g} = n \vee u^+ - n \vee u^- = \underbrace{n \vee H^+ - n \vee H^-}_{G} + ie_{m+1} \underbrace{(n \vee E^+ - n \vee E^-)}_{\tilde{G}}$$
(2.30)

$$\tilde{f} = n \wedge u^{+} - n \wedge u^{-} = \underbrace{n \wedge H^{+} - n \wedge H^{-}}_{F} + ie_{m+1} \underbrace{(n \wedge E^{+} - n \wedge E^{-})}_{\tilde{F}}$$
(2.31)

Grouping conveniently the π_l and π_{l+1} projections applied to the identities indicated with braces in (2.30)-(2.31), we have the boundary conditions in the problems on (2.24). The differential equations in (2.24)-(2.29) follow again from a convenient grouping of the π_l and π_{l+1} projections, applied this time to the right hand of (1.47).

¹If (E_{l+1}^{-}, H_{l}^{-}) is also an electromagnetic wave, then it satisfies the SMRC.

 $^{^{2}\}mathrm{If}\;(H_{l+1}^{-},E_{l}^{-})$ is also an electromagnetic wave, then it satisfies the SMRC.

And the radiation conditions in (2.24)-(2.29) follow easily from Lemma 2.2.5.

Let us prove now the validity of the boundary conditions in problems (2.26)-(2.29). To this end we calculate

$$\partial_n E_0^+ + \partial_n E_0^- = n \lor dE_0^+ - n \lor dE_0^-.$$
(2.32)

And using $dE_0^{\pm} = ikH_1^{\pm} - \delta E_2^{\pm}$ on Ω^{\pm} , (2.32) becomes

$$\partial_{n}E_{0}^{+} + \partial_{n}E_{0}^{-} = ik(n \vee H_{1}^{+} - n \vee H_{1}^{-}) - (n \vee \delta E_{2}^{+} - n \vee \delta E_{2}^{-})$$

= $ikG_{0} - \delta_{\partial}(n \vee E_{2}^{+} - n \vee E_{2}^{-})$
= $ikG_{0} - \delta_{\partial}\tilde{G}_{1}.$ (2.33)

Where, on the second equality, we used Lemma 1.4.1. This gives the second boundary condition in (2.26). As for the first one, it is enough to note that

$$n \wedge E_0^+ - \mu n \wedge E_0^- = \tilde{F}_1 \implies E_0^+ - \mu E_0^- = n \vee \tilde{F}_1$$

Problem (2.27) is analogous. In a similar way we treat the case of problem (2.28), and (2.29) will be analogous.

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{n}(*E_{m}^{+}) + \mu \partial_{n}(*E_{m}^{-}) &= n \lor d(*E_{m}^{+}) - \mu n \lor d(*E_{m}^{-}) \\ &= (-1)^{m} \Big[ik \left(n \lor (*H_{m-1}^{+}) - \mu n \lor (*H_{m-1}^{+}) \right) \\ &- \left(n \lor (*dE_{m-2}^{+}) - \mu n \lor (*dE_{m-2}^{-}) \right) \Big] \\ &= (-1)^{m+(m-1)} \Big[ik * \left(n \land H_{m-1}^{+} - \mu n \land H_{m-1}^{+} \right) \\ &- * (n \land dE_{m-2}^{+} - \mu n \land dE_{m-2}^{-}) \Big] \\ &= -ik * F_{m} - * \Big[d_{\partial}(n \land E_{m-2}^{+}) - \mu d_{\partial}(n \land E_{m-2}^{-}) \Big] \\ &= -ik * F_{m} - * d_{\partial} \tilde{F}_{m-1} \\ &= - * (ik F_{m} + \delta_{\partial} \tilde{F}_{m-1}). \end{aligned}$$
(2.34)

Where we have used $d(*E_m^{\pm}) = (-1)^m * \delta E_m^{\pm} = (-1)^m * [ikH_{m-1}^{\pm} - dE_{m-2}^{\pm}]$ on Ω^{\pm} , properties of the Hodge star operator in lemmas 1.3.2 and 1.3.3, and Lemma 1.4.1. From (2.34) we have the second boundary condition in (2.28). The first one follows

from

$$*(n \lor E_m^+ - n \lor E_m^-) = *\tilde{G}_{m-1} (-1)^{m-1} \left[n \land (*E_m^+) - n \land (*E_m^-) \right] = *\tilde{G}_{m-1} *E_m^+ - *E_m^- = (-1)^{m-1}n \lor (*\tilde{G}_{m-1}) *E_m^+ - *E_m^- = *(n \land \tilde{G}_{m-1}).$$

The last statement in the theorem is a direct consequence of Lemma 2.2.4. \Box

Under the same restrictions as in Theorem 2.2.1, the following theorem gives necessary and sufficient conditions for the \mathcal{HTP}_m (given in (1.46)) to be well-posed.

Theorem 2.2.7. There exist $\epsilon > 0$ and an at most discrete set $\{k_j\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$ containing 0, both depending on μ and $\partial\Omega$, such that, if $2 - \epsilon and <math>k \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{k_j\}_j$ with $\operatorname{Im} k \geq 0$, then the \mathcal{HTP}_m has a solution if and only if $\phi \in L_1^p(\partial\Omega)$. Furthermore, the solution is unique and depends continuously on the boundary data, *i.e.*,

$$||\mathcal{N}(w^{\pm})||_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)} + ||\mathcal{N}(\nabla w^{\pm})||_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)} \ll ||\phi||_{L^{p}_{1}(\partial\Omega)} + ||\psi||_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)}.$$
 (2.35)

Proof. Suppose first that $\phi \in L_1^p(\partial\Omega)$, and define $\tilde{f} := \phi n$ and $\tilde{g} := \frac{1}{ik}\psi$. Lemma 2.2.4 implies $\tilde{f} \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^1)$. Moreover, it is easy to verify that $\delta_{\partial}\tilde{g} = 0$ and $\tilde{g} \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^0)$. Let us consider then, using Theorem 2.2.1, the solution u^{\pm} to the \mathcal{DTP}_m with boundary data \tilde{g}, \tilde{f} , decomposed as in (2.14), i.e., $u^{\pm} = H^{\pm} - ie_{m+1}E^{\pm}$. From Theorem 2.2.6, the scalar components E_0^{\pm} of E^{\pm} , constitute a solution to (1.46). Furthermore, (2.35) follows from the corresponding estimates for u^{\pm} .

Suppose now E^{\pm} solves (1.46). Note that

$$n\phi = n(E^+ - \mu E^-) = n \wedge E^+ - \mu n \wedge E^-,$$

and by Lemma 1.4.1, $n \wedge E^+ - \mu n \wedge E^-$ has boundary exterior derivative in $L^p(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^2)$. Therefore $n\phi \in L^{p,d}_n(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^1)$, and Lemma 2.2.4 implies $\phi \in L^p_1(\partial\Omega)$.

Let us prove now the unicity of the solution to (1.46). Suppose E^{\pm} solves the homogeneous version of (1.46), and define

$$u^{\pm} := H^{\pm} - ie_{m+1}E^{\pm}$$
 with $H^{\pm} := \frac{1}{ik}dE^{\pm}$.

Then, on Ω^{\pm} , we have the identities

$$\begin{cases} \delta H^{\pm} + dH^{\pm} = \frac{1}{ik} (\underbrace{-d\delta E^{\pm}}_{=0} + k^2 E^{\pm}) + \frac{1}{ik} \underbrace{d^2 E^{\pm}}_{=0} = -ikE^{\pm} \\ \delta E^{\pm} + dE^{\pm} = dE^{\pm} = ikH^{\pm} \end{cases}$$

Thus, from Lemma 1.7.1, u^{\pm} is k-monogenic on Ω^{\pm} . Furthermore, Lemma 2.2.5 implies that u^{-} satisfies the MMRC. Hence u^{\pm} solves the \mathcal{DTP}_{m} with boundary conditions

$$\begin{split} \tilde{g} &= (n \lor H^{+} - n \lor H^{-}) + ie_{m+1}(n \lor E^{+} - n \lor E^{-}) \\ &= \frac{1}{ik}(n \lor dE^{+} - n \lor dE^{-}) + ie_{m+1}(-\frac{1}{ik})(n \lor \delta H^{+} - n \lor \delta H^{-}) \\ &= \frac{1}{ik}(\underbrace{\partial_{n}E^{+} - \partial_{n}E^{-}}_{=0}) + \frac{1}{k}e_{m+1}\delta_{\partial}(\underbrace{n \lor H^{+} - n \lor H^{-}}_{=0}) = 0, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \tilde{f} &= (n \wedge H^{+} - \mu \, n \wedge H^{-}) + i e_{m+1} (n \wedge E^{+} - \mu \, n \wedge E^{-}) \\ &= \frac{1}{ik} (n \wedge dE^{+} - \mu \, n \wedge dE^{-}) + i e_{m+1} (-\frac{1}{ik}) n (\underbrace{E^{+} - \mu E^{-}}_{=0}) \\ &= -\frac{1}{ik} d_{\partial} (n \wedge E^{+} - \mu \, n \wedge E^{-}) = 0. \end{split}$$

Where we have used Lemma 1.7.1, Lemma 1.4.1, and the boundary conditions in the homogeneous version of (1.46). Unicity on Theorem 2.2.1 implies $E^{\pm} = 0$.

Suppose E, H are C^1 functions defined in a domain of \mathbb{R}^m , Λ^{l+1}, Λ^l valued respectively, and $u := H - ie_{m+1} E$. Then Lemma 1.7.1 provides the equivalence

$$\mathbb{D}_k u = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \begin{cases} \delta E - ik H = 0, \\ dH + ik E = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.36)

This motivates, when we think about the corresponding transmission problems, the following definition.

Definition 2.2.8. We call a \mathcal{MTP}_m and a \mathcal{DTP}_m equivalent, when

$$\begin{cases} E^{\pm}, H^{\pm} \text{ solves the } \mathcal{MTP}_m \\ \text{with boundary data } g, f \end{cases} \iff \begin{cases} u^{\pm} := H^{\pm} - ie_{m+1} E^{\pm} \text{ solves the } \mathcal{DTP}_m \\ \text{with boundary data } \tilde{g}, \tilde{f} \end{cases}$$

Considering E^{\pm} , H^{\pm} as Λ^{l+1} , Λ^{l} valued respectively, using decompositions (2.16)-(2.17), and Theorem 2.2.6, we conclude that

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{g} = G_{l-1} + ie_{m+1}\tilde{G}_l, \\ \tilde{f} = F_{l+1} + ie_{m+1}\tilde{F}_{l+2}, \end{cases} \text{ with } \begin{cases} g = \tilde{G}_l, \\ f = F_{l+1}, \end{cases}$$

are clearly necessary conditions for the equivalence in Definition 2.2.8. The following theorem gives necessary and sufficient conditions (on the boundary data) for the equivalence to hold.

Theorem 2.2.9. There exist $\epsilon > 0$ and an at most discrete set $\{k_j\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$ containing 0, both depending on μ and $\partial\Omega$, such that, if $2 - \epsilon and <math>k \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{k_j\}_j$ with Im $k \geq 0$, then the \mathcal{MTP}_m and the \mathcal{DTP}_m are equivalent if and only if

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{g} = -\frac{1}{ik} \delta_{\partial}g + ie_{m+1}g, \\ \tilde{f} = f + ie_{m+1}(\frac{1}{ik}d_{\partial}f). \end{cases}$$
(2.37)

Furthermore, (2.37) is equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{g} \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^{l-1} \oplus e_{m+1}\Lambda^l) \text{ and } \delta_{\partial}\tilde{g} + ke_{m+1} \wedge \tilde{g} = 0, \\ \tilde{f} \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^{l+1} \oplus e_{m+1}\Lambda^{l+2}) \text{ and } d_{\partial}\tilde{f} + ke_{m+1} \vee \tilde{f} = 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.38)

in the sense that (2.38) holds if and only if there exist $g \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^l)$ and $f \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^{l+1})$ satisfying (2.37).

Proof. Suppose first that the transmission problems are equivalent. From $u = H^{\pm} - ie_{m+1} E^{\pm}$, we obtain the boundary data in the Dirac problem as a function of E^{\pm} , H^{\pm} ,

$$\tilde{g} = \underbrace{n \vee H^{+} - n \vee H^{-}}_{G_{l-1}} + ie_{m+1} \underbrace{(n \vee E^{+} - n \vee E^{-})}_{g},$$

$$\tilde{f} = \underbrace{n \wedge H^{+} - \mu n \wedge H^{-}}_{f} + ie_{m+1} \underbrace{(n \wedge E^{+} - \mu n \wedge E^{-})}_{\tilde{F}_{l+2}}.$$
(2.39)

Then, after using $H^{\pm} = \frac{1}{ik} \delta E^{\pm}$, $E^{\pm} = -\frac{1}{ik} dH^{\pm}$, and Lemma 1.4.1, we get

$$G_{l-1} = \frac{1}{ik} (n \lor \delta E^{+} - n \lor \delta E^{-}) = -\frac{1}{ik} \delta_{\partial} (n \lor E^{+} - n \lor E^{-}) = -\frac{1}{ik} \delta_{\partial} g,$$

$$\tilde{F}_{l+2} = -\frac{1}{ik} (n \land dH^{+} - \mu n \land dH^{-}) = \frac{1}{ik} d_{\partial} (n \land H^{+} - \mu n \land H^{-}) = \frac{1}{ik} d_{\partial} f,$$
(2.40)

which proves (2.37). Let us proceed now to prove the equivalence of the transmission problems, considering (2.37) to be true.

On the one hand, suppose that E^{\pm} , H^{\pm} solves the \mathcal{MTP}_m . Then define $u^{\pm} := H^{\pm} - ie_{m+1}E^{\pm}$. Note that (2.36) implies that u^{\pm} is k-monogenic on Ω^{\pm} . The condition on the nontangential maximal functions for u^{\pm} follows easily from the corresponding one for E^{\pm} , H^{\pm} . And Lemma 2.2.5 implies u^{-} satisfies the MMRC. Therefore u^{\pm} solves the \mathcal{DTP}_m with boundary data

$$n \vee u^{+} - n \vee u^{-} = n \vee H^{+} - n \vee H^{-} + ie_{m+1}(n \vee E^{+} - n \vee E^{-}),$$

$$n \wedge u^{+} - \mu n \wedge u^{-} = n \wedge H^{+} - \mu n \wedge H^{-} + ie_{m+1}(n \wedge E^{+} - \mu n \wedge E^{-}).$$

Now the boundary conditions in the \mathcal{MTP}_m , (2.37) and the same reasoning that led to (2.40) prove that this boundary data is precisely \tilde{g}, \tilde{f} .

On the other hand, suppose u^{\pm} solves the \mathcal{DTP}_m with boundary data \tilde{g}, \tilde{f} , and consider the decomposition (2.14) for u^{\pm} . This case is not so easy because, a priori, we cannot guarantee that E^{\pm}, H^{\pm} are even Λ^{l+1}, Λ^l valued respectively. But we know that, under certain conditions, the solution to the Dirac transmission problem is unique and can be represented through the Cauchy-Clifford operator (Theorem 2.2.1). So, if $\lambda := \frac{1}{2} \frac{1+\mu}{1-\mu}$, and ϵ, p and k are as in Theorem 2.1.4 (which are the same conditions for Theorem 2.2.1), then u^{\pm} is the image, under \mathscr{C}_k , of some function in $L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m) + L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m)$. Instead of using directly the candidate provided by (2.10), we find more natural in this case to proceed as follows.

Consider $v^{\pm} := \mathscr{C}_k h^{\pm} = H I^{\pm} - i e_{m+1} E I^{\pm}$. Where

$$h^{\pm} = h_1^{\pm} + e_{m+1}h_2^{\pm}, \quad \text{with} \quad h_1^{\pm}, h_2^{\pm} \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m) + L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \mathcal{C}\ell_m),$$

and

$$n \lor v^+ - n \lor v^- = \tilde{g}', \qquad n \land v^+ - \mu n \land v^- = \tilde{f}'.$$

Then

$$v^{\pm} = \mathbb{D}\mathscr{S}_{k}h_{1}^{\pm} + ke_{m+1}\mathscr{S}_{k}h_{1} \pm -e_{m+1}\mathbb{D}\mathscr{S}_{k}h_{2} \pm -k\mathscr{S}_{k}h_{2} \pm \\ = \underbrace{\mathbb{D}\mathscr{S}_{k}h_{1}^{\pm} - k\mathscr{S}_{k}h_{2} \pm}_{H^{j\pm}} -ie_{m+1}\underbrace{\frac{1}{i}(\mathbb{D}\mathscr{S}_{k}h_{2} \pm -k\mathscr{S}_{k}h_{1} \pm)}_{E^{j\pm}}_{E^{j\pm}}$$

If we impose the restrictions

$$(h_1^{\pm})_n \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^{l+1}) \quad \text{and} \quad (h_2^{\pm})_n = \frac{1}{k} d_{\partial}(h_1^{\pm})_n,$$

$$(h_2^{\pm})_t \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^l) \quad \text{and} \quad (h_1^{\pm})_t = \frac{1}{k} \delta_{\partial}(h_2^{\pm})_t,$$
(2.41)

then

$$H\ell^{\pm} = \frac{1}{k} d\mathscr{S}_k \delta_{\partial}(h_2^{\pm})_t + \delta\mathscr{S}_k(h_1^{\pm})_n - k\mathscr{S}_k(h_2^{\pm})_t,$$

$$iE\ell^{\pm} = \frac{1}{k} \delta\mathscr{S}_k d_{\partial}(h_1^{\pm})_n + d\mathscr{S}_k(h_2^{\pm})_t - k\mathscr{S}_k(h_1^{\pm})_n,$$

(2.42)

and E', H' are Λ^{l+1}, Λ^l valued respectively. Therefore, from (2.36), (E', H') is an electromagnetic wave in \mathbb{R}^m . Under restrictions (2.41), after using (2.42) and Lemma 1.5.2, we pass from

$$\tilde{g}' = (n \lor H\prime^+ - n \lor H\prime^-) + ie_{m+1}(n \lor E\prime^+ - n \lor E\prime^-),$$

$$\tilde{f}' = (n \land H\prime^+ - \mu n \land H\prime^-) + ie_{m+1}(n \land E\prime^+ - \mu n \land E\prime^-),$$

 to

$$\tilde{g}' = -\frac{1}{2} \Big[\frac{1}{k} \delta_{\partial} a + e_{m+1} a \Big] + n \vee C_k \Big[\frac{1}{k} \delta_{\partial} b + c + e_{m+1} (b + \frac{1}{k} d_{\partial} c) \Big],$$

$$\tilde{f}' = \frac{1}{2} \Big[a' + \frac{1}{k} e_{m+1} d_{\partial} a' \Big] + n \wedge C_k \Big[b' + \frac{1}{k} \delta_{\partial} c' + e_{m+1} (c' + \frac{1}{k} d_{\partial} b') \Big].$$
(2.43)

Were we have made the substitutions

$$a = (h_2^+ + h_2^-)_t, \qquad b = (h_2^+ - h_2^-)_t, \qquad c = (h_1^+ - h_1^-)_n, a' = (h_1^+ + \mu h_1^-)_n, \qquad b' = (h_1^+ - \mu h_1^-)_n, \qquad c' = (h_2^+ - \mu h_2^-)_t.$$

We now expand (2.43) using (1.19), to obtain (after simplifying and organizing the

terms conveniently)

$$\tilde{g}' = \underbrace{-\frac{1}{2k}\delta_{\partial}a + \frac{1}{k}M_{k}\delta_{\partial}b + N_{k}c - kn \vee S_{k}b}_{G'_{l-1}} + ie_{m+1}\underbrace{\frac{1}{i}\left[-\frac{1}{2}a + M_{k}b + \frac{1}{k}n \vee \delta S_{k}(d_{\partial}c) - kn \vee S_{k}c\right]}_{\tilde{G}'_{l}}, \qquad (2.44)$$

$$\tilde{f}' = \underbrace{\frac{1}{2}a' + N_{k}b' + \frac{1}{k}n \wedge dS_{k}(\delta_{\partial}c') - kn \wedge S_{k}c'}_{F'_{l+1}} + ie_{m+1}\underbrace{\frac{1}{i}\left[\frac{1}{2k}d_{\partial}a' + \frac{1}{k}N_{k}(d_{\partial}b') - kn \wedge S_{k}b' + n \wedge dS_{k}c'\right]}_{\tilde{F}'_{l+2}}.$$

Where the functions under the braces are the ones associated to \tilde{g}', \tilde{f}' through decompositions (2.16)-(2.17). Equation (2.44) motivates the new restrictions $(h_1^-)_n = (h_1^+)_n$ and $(h_2^-)_t = \frac{1}{\mu}(h_2^+)_t$, which translate into

$$c = c' = 0, \quad b = -\frac{1-\mu}{1+\mu}a = -\frac{1}{2\lambda}a, \quad b' = \frac{1-\mu}{1+\mu}a' = \frac{1}{2\lambda}a'.$$

Thus

$$\tilde{G}'_l = \frac{1}{2i\lambda}(-\lambda I + M_k)a, \quad F'_{l+1} = \frac{1}{2\lambda}(\lambda I + N_k)a'.$$

Moreover, $\lambda \in (\frac{1}{2}, \infty)$ because $\mu \in (0, 1)$. Hence, using Theorem 2.1.4, we can make

$$a = 2i\lambda(-\lambda I + M_k)^{-1}g, \quad a' = 2\lambda(\lambda I + N_k)^{-1}f,$$

To obtain $\tilde{G}'_l = g$ and $F'_{l+1} = f$. Our next step is to calculate $\delta_{\partial g}$ and $d_{\partial f}$. First note, from Lemma 1.5.2, that

$$dS_k a = \frac{1}{2} \Big[(d\mathscr{S}_k a)|_{\partial \Omega^+} + (d\mathscr{S}_k a)|_{\partial \Omega^-} \Big],$$

therefore, using Lemma 1.4.1, (1.8) and Lemma 1.5.4, we have

$$\delta_{\partial}(n \vee dS_k a) = \frac{1}{2} \Big[n \vee (\delta d\mathscr{S}_k a)|_{\partial\Omega^+} + n \vee (\delta d\mathscr{S}_k a)|_{\partial\Omega^-} \Big] = -n \vee dS_k(\delta_{\partial} a) + k^2 n \vee S_k a.$$
(2.45)

Now we use (2.45) to calculate

$$\delta_{\partial}g = -\frac{1}{2i\lambda} \Big[\lambda\delta_{\partial}a - \delta_{\partial}(n \lor dS_k a)\Big] = -\frac{1}{2i\lambda} \Big[\lambda\delta_{\partial}a - M_k(\delta_{\partial}a) + k^2n \lor S_k a\Big] = -ikG'_{l-1}$$

We can prove, analogously, that $d_{\partial}f = ik\tilde{F}'_{l+2}$. From (2.37) we conclude $\tilde{g}' = \tilde{g}$ and $\tilde{f}' = \tilde{f}$. Finally, from the unicity in Theorem 2.2.1, we have $v^{\pm} = u^{\pm}$, and Theorem 2.2.6 implies that E^{\pm}, H^{\pm} solves the \mathcal{MTP}_m with boundary data g, f.

It remains to be proved the equivalence between (2.37) and (2.38). Implication (\Rightarrow) is trivial. Suppose (2.38) is true, and use the decomposition $\tilde{g} = g_1 + e_{m+1}g_2$ with $g_1 \in L_t^{p,\delta}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^{l-1})$ and $g_2 \in L_n^{p,d}(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^l)$. Then

$$\delta_{\partial}\tilde{g} = \delta_{\partial}g_1 - e_{m+1}\delta_{\partial}g_2,$$

and from (2.38),

$$\delta_{\partial}\tilde{g} = -ke_{m+1} \wedge \tilde{g} = -ke_{m+1}g_1$$

Therefore $\delta_{\partial}g_1 - e_{m+1}\delta_{\partial}g_2 = -ke_{m+1}g_1$, and because $\delta_{\partial}g_1, \delta_{\partial}g_2, g_1$ are $\mathcal{C}\ell_m$ valued functions, we conclude $g_1 = \frac{1}{k}\delta_{\partial}g_2$. Thus $g = \frac{1}{i}g_2$ satisfies the first equality in (2.37). The case for \tilde{f} and the second in equality in (2.37) is analogous.

Under the same restrictions as in Theorem 2.2.1, the following corollary gives necessary and sufficient conditions for the \mathcal{MTP}_m (given in (1.45)) to be well-posed.

Corollary 2.2.10. There exist $\epsilon > 0$ and an at most discrete set $\{k_j\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$ containing 0, both depending on μ and $\partial\Omega$, such that, if $2 - \epsilon and <math>k \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{k_j\}_j$ with $\operatorname{Im} k \geq 0$, then the \mathcal{MTP}_m has a solution if and only if

$$g \in L^{p,\delta}_t(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^l)$$
 and $f \in L^{p,d}_n(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^{l+1}).$

Furthermore, the solution is unique and depends continuously on the boundary data, i.e.,

$$||\mathcal{N}(E^{\pm})||_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)} + ||\mathcal{N}(H^{\pm})||_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)} \ll ||g||_{L^{p,\delta}_{t}(\partial\Omega,\Lambda^{l})} + ||f||_{L^{p,d}_{n}(\partial\Omega,\Lambda^{l+1})}.$$
 (2.46)

Proof. The first implication follows easily from Lemma 1.4.1. The second implication, unicity of the solution, and estimate (2.46), are straightforward consequences of theorems 2.2.9 and 2.2.1.

The following theorem can be proved analogously to Theorem 2.2.9.

Theorem 2.2.11. Under the same premises of Theorem 2.2.9, suppose H^{\pm}, E^{\pm} are $\Lambda^{l+1}, \Lambda^{l}$ valued respectively, and define $u^{\pm} := H^{\pm} - ie_{m+1} E^{\pm}$. Then the equivalence

$$\begin{cases} \delta H^{\pm} - ik (-E^{\pm}) = 0, \\ d(-E^{\pm}) + ik H^{\pm} = 0 \\ n \lor H^{+} - n \lor H^{-} = g, \\ n \land (-E^{+}) - \mu n \land (-E^{-}) = f, \\ H^{-}, E^{-} \text{ satisfy the SMRC}, \end{cases} \iff \begin{cases} u^{\pm} \text{ solves the } \mathcal{DTP}_{m} \\ \text{with boundary data } \tilde{g}, \tilde{f} \end{cases}$$

holds if and only if

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{g} = g + ie_{m+1}(\frac{1}{ik}\delta_{\partial}g), \\ \tilde{f} = \frac{1}{ik}d_{\partial}f + ie_{m+1}(-f). \end{cases}$$

Our final observation is that in Theorem 2.2.6, taking the homogeneous version of the transmission problems in (2.24) for all possible values of l, we obtain independent Maxwell transmission problems. Therefore, we can combine theorems 2.2.9 and 2.2.11 to obtain a variant of Theorem 2.2.6 which provides necessary and sufficient conditions for the equivalence of several \mathcal{MTP}_m 's (between 1 and m-1 or m, depending on the parity of m), with one \mathcal{DTP}_m .

Theorem 2.2.12. There exist $\epsilon > 0$ and an at most discrete set $\{k_j\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$ containing 0, both depending on μ and $\partial\Omega$, such that, if $2 - \epsilon and <math>k \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{k_j\}_j$ with $\operatorname{Im} k \geq 0$, then for $u^{\pm} := H^{\pm} - ie_{m+1} E^{\pm}$, the equivalence

holds if and only if

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{g} = \sum \left[-\frac{1}{ik} \delta_{\partial} g_{l} + g'_{l} + i e_{m+1} (g_{l} + \frac{1}{ik} \delta_{\partial} g'_{l}) \right], \\ \tilde{f} = \sum \left[f_{l+1} + \frac{1}{ik} d_{\partial} f'_{l+1} + i e_{m+1} (\frac{1}{ik} d_{\partial} f_{l+1} - f'_{l+1}) \right]. \end{cases}$$
(2.47)

Where the sums are taken over $l \in \{1, 3, ..., m-2\}$, if m is odd, or $l \in \{1, 3, ..., m-1\}$, if m is even. Furthermore, (2.47) is equivalent (if we consider decompositions (2.16)-(2.17) for \tilde{g}, \tilde{f}) to

$$\begin{cases} G_{l-1} = -\frac{1}{ik} \delta_{\partial} \tilde{G}_{l}, & \tilde{G}_{l-1} = \frac{1}{ik} \delta_{\partial} G_{l}, \\ F_{l+2} = -\frac{1}{ik} d_{\partial} \tilde{F}_{l+1}, & \tilde{F}_{l+2} = \frac{1}{ik} d_{\partial} F_{l+1}, \end{cases}$$
(2.48)

in the sense that (2.48) holds if and only if there exist $g_l, g'_l \in L^{p,\delta}_t(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^l)$ and $f_{l+1}, f'_{l+1} \in L^{p,d}_n(\partial\Omega, \Lambda^{l+1})$ satisfying (2.47).

Remark 2.2.13. Note that, by making $g_l = f_{l+1} = 0$ or $g'_l = f'_{l+1} = 0$, the corresponding \mathcal{MTP}_m is "eliminated" from the equivalence in Theorem 2.2.12. This justifies the claim that this theorem provides conditions for a \mathcal{DTP}_m to be equivalent to anything between 1 and m-1 or m (depending on the parity of m) \mathcal{MTP}_m 's.

Acknowledgments

The results in this work are part of the authors' PhD research at the Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, with the support of CONACYT. I wish to thank the guidance and encouragement of my advisor Emilio Marmolejo Olea.

Bibliography

- A. Hernández-Herrera, Higher dimensional transmission problems for dirac operators on lipschitz domains, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications 478 (2) (2019) 499-525. doi:10.1016/j.jmaa.2019.05.040.
- [2] E. Marmolejo-Olea, I. Mitrea, M. Mitrea, Q. Shi, Transmission boundary problems for Dirac operators on Lipschitz domains and applications to Maxwell's and Helmholtz's equations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 364 (8) (2012) 4369–4424. doi:10.1090/S0002-9947-2012-05606-6.
- [3] B. Jawerth, M. Mitrea, Higher-dimensional electromagnetic scattering theory on C¹ and Lipschitz domains, Amer. J. Math. 117 (4) (1995) 929–963. doi: 10.2307/2374954.
- C. Müller, über die Beugung elektromagnetischer Schwingungen an endlichen homogenen Körpern, Math. Ann. 123 (1951) 345-378. doi:10.1007/ BF02054960.
- [5] H. Weyl, Kapazität von Strahlungsfeldern, Math. Z. 55 (1952) 187–198. doi: 10.1007/BF01268654.
- [6] A. P. Calderón, The multipole expansion of radiation fields, J. Rational Mech. Anal. 3 (1954) 523–537.
- [7] C. Müller, Foundations of the mathematical theory of electromagnetic waves, Revised and enlarged translation from the German. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 155, Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1969.
- [8] A.-P. Calderón, Cauchy integrals on Lipschitz curves and related operators, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74 (4) (1977) 1324–1327.

- [9] R. R. Coifman, A. McIntosh, Y. Meyer, L'intégrale de Cauchy définit un opérateur borné sur L^2 pour les courbes lipschitziennes, Ann. of Math. (2) 116 (2) (1982) 361–387. doi:10.2307/2007065.
- [10] D. Colton, R. Kress, Inverse acoustic and electromagnetic scattering theory, Vol. 93 of Applied Mathematical Sciences, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-02835-3.
- [11] M. Mitrea, The method of layer potentials in electromagnetic scattering theory on nonsmooth domains, Duke Math. J. 77 (1) (1995) 111–133. doi:10.1215/ S0012-7094-95-07705-9.
- [12] D. Mitrea, M. Mitrea, J. Pipher, Vector potential theory on nonsmooth domains in R³ and applications to electromagnetic scattering, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 3 (2) (1997) 131–192. doi:10.1007/s00041-001-4053-0.
- [13] L. C. Evans, R. F. Gariepy, Measure theory and fine properties of functions, Studies in Advanced Mathematics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1992.
- [14] A. Kirsch, F. Hettlich, The Mathematical Theory of Time-Harmonic Maxwell's Equations: Expansion-, Integral-, and Variational Methods, Applied Mathematical Sciences, Springer International Publishing, 2014.
- [15] I. Mitrea, M. Mitrea, Multi-layer potentials and boundary problems for higherorder elliptic systems in Lipschitz domains, Vol. 2063 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer, Heidelberg, 2013. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-32666-0.
- [16] F. Brackx, R. Delanghe, F. Sommen, Clifford analysis, Vol. 76 of Research Notes in Mathematics, Pitman (Advanced Publishing Program), Boston, MA, 1982.
- [17] J. E. Gilbert, M. A. M. Murray, Clifford algebras and Dirac operators in harmonic analysis, Vol. 26 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991. doi:10.1017/CB09780511611582.
- [18] M. Mitrea, Clifford wavelets, singular integrals, and Hardy spaces, Vol. 1575 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1994. doi:10.1007/ BFb0073556.
- [19] K. Gürlebeck, K. Habetha, W. Sprößig, Holomorphic functions in the plane and *n*-dimensional space, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2008, translated from the 2006 German original, With 1 CD-ROM (Windows and UNIX).

- [20] K. Gürlebeck, K. Habetha, W. Sprößig, Application of holomorphic functions in two and higher dimensions, Birkhäuser/Springer, [Cham], 2016. doi:10.1007/ 978-3-0348-0964-1.
- [21] M. Abramowitz, I. A. Stegun (Eds.), Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables, Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1992, reprint of the 1972 edition.
- [22] H. G. Garnir, Les problèmes aux limites de la physique mathématique. Introduction à leur étude générale, Lehrbücher und Monographien aus dem Gebiete der exakten Wissenschaften. Mathematische Reihe, Bd. 23, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel-Stuttgart, 1958.
- [23] A. McIntosh, M. Mitrea, Clifford algebras and Maxwell's equations in Lipschitz domains, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 22 (18) (1999) 1599-1620. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1099-1476(199912)22:18<1599::AID-MMA95>3.3.CO;2-D.
- [24] G. Verchota, Layer potentials and regularity for the Dirichlet problem for Laplace's equation in Lipschitz domains, J. Funct. Anal. 59 (3) (1984) 572–611. doi:10.1016/0022-1236(84)90066-1.
- [25] I. Gohberg, J. Leiterer, Holomorphic operator functions of one variable and applications, Vol. 192 of Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2009, methods from complex analysis in several variables. doi: 10.1007/978-3-0346-0126-9.
- [26] B. E. J. Dahlberg, C. E. Kenig, Hardy spaces and the Neumann problem in L^p for Laplace's equation in Lipschitz domains, Ann. of Math. (2) 125 (3) (1987) 437–465. doi:10.2307/1971407.
- [27] E. Marmolejo-Olea, D. Mitrea, I. Mitrea, M. Mitrea, Radiation conditions and integral representations for Clifford algebra-valued null-solutions of the Helmholtz operator, J. Math. Sci. (N.Y.) 231 (3, Problems in mathematical analysis. No. 91 (Russian)) (2018) 367–472.